
 

 

 
 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Agenda 
 

 
Wyre Borough Council 

Date of Publication: 19 February 2021 
Please ask for: Emma Keany 
Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01253 887476 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on Monday, 1 March 2021 at 
6.00 pm via WebEx.  
 
Members of the Public will be able to view the meeting via the Council's 
YouTube page (www.youtube.com/user/WyreCouncil). 
 

1.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

 

 To receive any declarations of interest from any councillor on any item 
on this agenda. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of minutes 
 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 18.01.2021. 
 

 

4.   Wyre Community Safety Partnership – annual scrutiny review 
 

 

 Inspector Kevin Lister (Wyre Neighbourhood Inspector), Neil 
Greenwood (Head of Environmental Health & Community Safety) and 
Councillor Roger Berry (Neighbourhood Services and Community 
Safety Portfolio Holder) will attend the meeting to provide an update on 
the Wyre Community Safety Partnership.  
 

 

5.   PREVENT- LGA guidance 
 

(Pages 7 - 42) 

 In late August 2020, the Local Government Association and the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny (now the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny) 
released their guidance on the effective scrutiny of counter-extremism 
and the Prevent duty.  
 
The guidance was developed with support from the Home Office and 
as this meeting is themed “Police and Community Safety” it was 
agreed that the guidance would be brought to this committee meeting.  
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Police Constable Paul Parkes (Counter Terrorism Policing North West- 
Cumbria & Lancashire) and Neil Greenwood (Head of Environmental 
Health & Community Safety) have been invited to the meeting to 
introduce the guidance.  
 

6.   Business Plan – Quarterly Performance Statement 
 

(Pages 43 - 66) 

 The Corporate Director Communities has submitted the 3rd Quarter 
Performance Statement 2020/21, October – December 2020. 
 

 

7.   Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2020/21 – update report 
 

(Pages 67 - 72) 

 The Corporate Director Resources, Clare James, has submitted a 
report updating the committee about the delivery of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Work Programme 2020/21. 
 

 

 



 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Minutes  

 
The minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting of Wyre Borough Council 
held on Monday, 18 January 2021 via WebEx.  
 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee members present: 
Councillors Ibison, Matthew Vincent, I Amos, R Amos, Ballard, Cropper, Fail, Leech, 
Longton, Minto and O'Neill 
 
Apologies for absence: 
Councillors C Birch and E Ellison 
 
Other councillors present: 
Councillors Henderson (left after item 5) 
 
Officers present: 
Emma Keany, Democratic Services Officer 
Clare James, Corporate Director Resources and Section 151 Officer (left after item 5) 
Garry Payne, Chief Executive (left after item 4) 
Marianne Hesketh, Corporate Director Communities (left after item 7)  
Marianne Unwin, Assistant Democratic Services Officer 
 
No members of the public or press attended the meeting via WebEx. 
 

 
25 Declarations of interest  

 
None. 
 

26 Confirmation of minutes  
 
The minutes for the meeting held on 23 November 2020 were approved as a 
correct record.  
 
During discussions regarding the draft minutes of the meeting held on 15 
December 2020, it was proposed by Councillor Fail and seconded by 
Councillor Longton, that the wording that read:  
“She also made reference to the fact that additional information had been 
requested for this meeting but that it, unfortunately, had arrived too late to be 
able to be distributed effectively amongst Overview and Scrutiny committee 
members before the start of the meeting.” 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

Be amended and replaced with: 
“She also made reference to the fact that additional information had been 
requested for this meeting and had said that “we now have the data and O&S 
need to look at this as part of their deliberations”.  
 
After being put to a vote, the proposed amendment was lost (3 votes for and 
8 votes against). 
 
It was then proposed by Councillor Ballard, seconded by Councillor Cropper, 
and subsequently agreed (8 votes for and 3 votes against) that the draft 
minutes submitted for the Overview and Scrutiny meeting held on 15 
December 2020 be approved as a correct record. 
 

27 Business Plan 2021/22  
 
The Corporate Director Communities, Marianne Hesketh, submitted a report 
on the Business Plan 2020-21. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor David Henderson, and the Chief 
Executive, Garry Payne, attended the meeting to present the report and 
responded to questions from committee members. 
 
The Leader updated the committee on the current situation regarding the 
ongoing Covid-19 Pandemic and on how it had affected the Borough.  
 
He went on to explain that the Business Plan 2021/22 reflected a need to 
recover from the impact of the Pandemic.  
 
Committee members asked questions regarding:  

 the financial impact of Covid-19 on the Council,  

 Amendments made to the Business Plan, in particular the Fleetwood 
Masterplan,  

 The absence of a strategic narrative presented alongside the plan,  

 And the Wyre Lottery. 
 
The Chair thanked the Corporate Director Communities, the Leader and the 
Chief Executive for their update and attendance. 
 
 

28 Treasury management  
 
The Corporate Director Resources, Clare James, submitted a Question and 
Answers document to the committee regarding the Treasury Management 
Strategy and Policies. 
 
Ms James introduced the document to the committee and answered 
questions from members.  
 
Committee members asked questions in relation to the impact of Covid-19 on 
the Council’s reserves and if there were any procedures for the additional 
spending of reserves.  

Page 4



 

 
The Chair thanked Ms James for her participation and attendance at the 
meeting.  
 
 

29 Business Plan – Quarterly Performance Statement  
 
The Corporate Director Communities, Marianne Hesketh, submitted the 2nd 
Quarter Performance Statement 2020/21, July - September 2020 for the 
consideration of the committee. 
 
Marianne Hesketh introduced the report and expressed her apologies for the 
delay in getting the report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which she 
explained was a result of the Covid-19 Pandemic.  
 
A number of questions and comments were put to, and answered by, Mrs 
Hesketh. Such as: 
 

 The possible inconsistency to the fact that the Leisure Centre visits 
measure (MPE5) had been classified as red, but that the healthy 
choices and healthier lifestyles project (PPE1) had been classified 
as green;  

 Any correlations between the projects and measures, and the 
possible requirement to make them even more consistent;  

 The Fylde Coast Tramway; 

 The revised timeframe for the new Wyre website to go live and;  

 The review of the Wyre Local Plan 2011-2031.  
 
The Chairman thanked the Corporate Director Resources for her report.   
 

30 Update on Tourism and Visitor Services  
 
The Corporate Director Communities, Marianne Hesketh, submitted a report 
to update the committee on Tourism and Visitor Services within the borough.  
 
Mrs Hesketh addressed the committee, providing the background as to why 
the report had been requested. She also went on to answer questions from 
the committee.   
 
A member asked for clarification on some of the budgetary figures and costs 
quantified in the report.  
 
The Corporate Director Communities answered by stating that the report had 
provided a useful exercise as it had shown a few recharges which had caused 
a possible disparity between the Fleetwood and Garstang Tourism 
Information Centres and that she sought to progress with more work to better 
understand the reasons for this.  
 
She also went on to inform the committee that Fleetwood Tourism Information 
Centre had been relocated into a Council owned property (Marine Hall), 
resulting in the overhead costs decreasing.    

Page 5



 

 
The Chairman thanked Mrs Hesketh for her report and attendance.  
 

31 O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update and planning  
 
The Corporate Director Resources, Clare James, submitted a report to update 
the committee about the delivery of the Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programme 2020/21.  
 
The Democratic Services Officer, Emma Keany, provided the committee with 
a verbal update. She also explained that, due to time and resource 
constraints, committee members were being asked to establish a maximum of 
two Scrutiny Task/Review groups for the remaining period of the 2020/2021 
work programme. 
 
There were discussions by members of the committee over the two topics 
they wished to progress with. Members expressed desires to re-establish the 
District Environmental Enforcement Task Group, to establish a task group to 
review the YMCA partnership and to begin a review group for the pending 
results of a Scrutiny Review that had been carried out by the Centre for 
Governance and Scrutiny.  
 
A vote was taken on whether to establish a YMCA Task Group, however the 
proposal was lost. Following this, the committee agreed to discuss the 
creation of the task group at the next meeting. The Chairman also requested 
that a scoping document be brought to the next meeting to highlight key areas 
from which a task group may be commissioned.    
 
The Chairman also requested additional information be gathered regarding 
the date a Portfolio Holder decision was planned to be taken on the District 
Environmental Enforcement agreement.   
 
It was agreed that the committee would establish the following task groups: 

 A review of the Citizens Advice Services (4.3 in the report) and, 

 A review of Wyre’s Call-In procedures (4.4 in the report). 
 

The meeting started at 6.01 pm and finished at 7.50 pm. 
 
Date of Publication: 19.02.2021. 
 

Page 6



1          Making homelessness strategies happen: ensuring accountability and deliverability

Guidance

Scrutiny,  
counter-extremism 
and the Prevent duty

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Page 8



3          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Contents

Executive summary	 4

Prevent and counter-extremism: background	 5

Policy context	 5

CONTEST, Prevent and Channel	 7

Counter-extremism	 9

Prevent, counter-extremism and safeguarding	 11

Support for councils to deliver Prevent and counter-extremism	 12

 
Four ways in which scrutiny practitioners can engage 	 13

Overview	 13

1. Supporting and challenging the assessment of risk	 14

2. Scrutinising Prevent and counter-extremism local action plans	 19

3. Monitoring and managing partnerships and relationships	 20

4. ‘Mainstreaming’ counter-extremism and Prevent	 29

Page 9



4          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Executive summary 

This publication, produced by the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) and the Local 
Government Association (LGA), is intended 
to help scrutiny practitioners (councillors who 
sit on overview and scrutiny committees or 
equivalents, and the officers who support 
them) to understand some of  the key features 
of  national and local policy on extremism and 
terrorism, and how they can support local 
efforts to combat these threats through their 
non-executive role. It explores the main policy 
context for strategies to combat terrorism 
(in – particular, the Government’s Prevent 
strategy and counter-extremism strategy) and 
suggests ways that non-executive councillors 
can contribute to improvements in how 
councils tackle these issues through good 
scrutiny and robust, constructive challenge. 

There are a number of  areas where we think 
scrutiny councillors and the work they do can 
add value:

•	 in general, providing public political 
oversight on what can be a sensitive local 
issue; involving councillors providing 
a different perspective on the way that 
partners consider, review and manage risk 
at a strategic level

•	 helping professionals within and outside 
the council to engage intelligently with 
local people, using scrutiny councillors’ 
unique credibility and legitimacy as elected 
members

•	 ensuring that partners are working together 
well, and that they understand their specific 
duties, and that there is consistency on 
priorities, expectations and goals across 
the partnership. Particularly important is the 
legal duty to “have regard to” the need to 
tackle the risk of  terrorism in how services 

are delivered, under Prevent – as well as 
the duties of  individual members of  staff  
to be aware of  extremism and terrorism as 
issues in their day-to-day work.

This guide does not suggest that all councils 
should embark on scrutiny reviews of  
counter-extremism or Prevent work, but it 
does suggest that members may wish to 
maintain oversight of  these important and 
sensitive issues. Much of  this oversight will 
need to be informal in nature – but critical and 
high-risk issues, where identified, may need 
to be brought to scrutiny more formally for 
further discussion and recommendations. 

Page 10



5          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Prevent and  
counter-extremism:  
background
Policy context
Tragic events in the UK, Europe and further 
afield in recent years, have ensured that the 
threat from attacks on people and property 
from those with extremist viewpoints has been 
at the top of  the political, as well as police and 
security agencies’, agendas for some time.

Nationally, the Government’s counter-terrorism 
and counter-extremism strategies are 
aimed at taking a comprehensive approach 
to tackling both violent and non-violent 
extremism. 

Action to tackle terrorism is covered by 
the Government’s CONTEST strategy1, 
on which we focus in more detail below. 
Terrorism is defined by the Terrorism Act 
2000; in brief, it means action, or threat of  
action, involving violence to the public and/
or damage to property. This action must be 
focused on influencing the Government or 
intimidating the public, with the purpose of  
advancing a particular political cause. This 
guidance document is primarily concerned 
with councils’ role in delivering one element 
of  the CONTEST strategy: ‘Prevent’ – aimed 
at stopping people becoming terrorists or 
supporting terrorism.

Action to counter extremism is framed by 
the Government’s 2015 counter-extremism 
strategy.2 Extremism is more difficult to define 
– it is identified in the counter-extremism 
strategy as “the vocal or active opposition to 
our fundamental values, including democracy, 
the rule of  law, individual liberty and the 
mutual respect and tolerance of  different 

1	 www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-strategy-contest-2018
2	 www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-extremism-strategy
3	 www.gov.uk/government/consultations/integrated-communities-strategy-green-paper 

faiths and beliefs”. The definition also 
includes “calls for the death of  members of  
our armed forces” as a form of  extremism. 
We cover the meaning of  the phrase in more 
detail later in this section. 

More broadly, although not a specific focus 
for this guidance, a third element to the 
strategic context for work around Prevent 
and counter-extremism is integration and 
cohesion. Whilst the cohesion agenda covers 
a broad range of  different issues, there are 
clear links across to counter-extremism work. 
Extremism is a threat to community cohesion 
and will grow as cohesion fails; fostering 
cohesion helps build resilience to rises in 
extremism and helps limit opportunities 
for extremists to exploit. The Government 
published its integrated communities 
strategy for consultation in March 2018, with 
its response to the consultation outcomes, 
including an integrated communities action 
plan, published in February 2019.3

The Government has been keen to emphasise 
that while these three strategies all play an 
important and complementary role, they each 
have distinct objectives in tackling terrorism, 
challenging extremism and fostering more 
cohesive communities. That said, while 
the focus for each of  these strategies may 
be different, understanding, responding 
and building resilience to the threats from 
extremism and terrorism require a joined-up 
approach at both national and local levels.  

 

Page 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-strategy-contest-2018
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-extremism-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/integrated-communities-strategy-green-paper


6          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

The role of local government 
Terrorism and extremism cannot be easily 
tackled through the policing and criminal 
justice systems alone. It is the responsibility 
of  a far wider range of  individuals and groups 
to understand the challenges and the role 
they can play in combating them.

This guidance focuses on the role of  local 
authorities, and those with whom they work 
directly. Their response to the threats from 
terrorism and extremism are driven in part 
by national policy, and in part by more local 
concerns – particularly around community 
cohesion and integration. 

Over the years national government has 
developed a number of  interventions to tackle 
the threats from terrorism and extremism, in 
the form both of  legislation (and the creation 
of  statutory duties) as well as strategies 
which cut across all local and national 
government business.  

The main documents that set out the role 
of  local authorities with regards to counter 
terrorism and counter-extremism are:

•	 the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015

•	 the counter-terrorism strategy – CONTEST4

•	 the Prevent strategy5

•	 statutory guidance6 on the Prevent duty 

•	 Prevent duty toolkit7 and benchmarking tool 
for local authorities and partner agencies 
(supplementary information to the Prevent 
duty guidance)

•	 Channel duty8 guidance (new guidance is 
expected to be published in Autumn 2020)

•	 the counter-extremism strategy (this 
strategy has no statutory duties, unlike  

4	 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/716907/140618_CCS207_
CCS0218929798-1_CONTEST_3.0_WEB.pdf

5	 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97976/prevent-strategy-
review.pdf

6	 www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales
7	 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/736759/Prevent_Duty_

Toolkit_for_Local_Authorities.pdf
8	 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/425189/Channel_Duty_

Guidance_April_2015.pdf
9	 www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-extremism-strategy
10	 The CONTEST strategy references other groups and individuals that carry out criminal acts to achieve political goals which may 

be motivated by animal rights, the extreme left-wing or environmental issues. While it suggests that none of these groups are 
currently assessed as posing a national security threat, there remains the possibility that may change.

the duties associated with Prevent).9  

For local authorities, a key element of  the 
Prevent programme is on safeguarding 
and supporting individuals who might 
be vulnerable to radicalisation – the 
process by which a person comes to 
support terrorism and extremist ideologies 
associated with terrorist groups. 

The counter-extremism strategy is aimed 
at protecting communities as a whole from 
a broader set of  harms beyond terrorism, 
including hate crime and intolerance, and 
promoting ‘fundamental values’ including 
democracy, the rule of  law and individual 
liberty. 

Both the Prevent and counter-extremism 
strategies are united in risk-assessment: 
amongst their priorities they each identify 
Islamist extremism, the rise of  Daesh and 
persistent threats from Al Qa’ida, plus 
growing threats from extreme right-wing 
and far-right groups; but both seek to cover 
extremism in all its forms.10

In their delivery, both the Prevent and counter-
extremism strategies depend on multi-agency 
cooperation; are led nationally by the Home 
Office (with cross-departmental links); require 
partnerships across formal and informal civil 
groups; and can use a range of  already-
available legislative tools and mechanisms 
to combat all kinds of  extremism. Both too 
recognise the key role local authorities have 
to play in their provision – and it is vital that 
councils’ work is subject to proportionate 
oversight and challenge by elected members. 
This guide sets out the ways in which effective 
scrutiny can lead to better policy and action 
in these areas.

Page 12

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/716907/140618_CCS207_CCS0218929798-1_CONTEST_3.0_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97976/prevent-strategy-review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/736759/Prevent_Duty_Toolkit_for_Local_Authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/425189/Channel_Duty_Guidance_April_2015.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/470088/51859_Cm9148_Accessible.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/716907/140618_CCS207_CCS0218929798-1_CONTEST_3.0_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/716907/140618_CCS207_CCS0218929798-1_CONTEST_3.0_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97976/prevent-strategy-review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97976/prevent-strategy-review.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/736759/Prevent_Duty_Toolkit_for_Local_Authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/736759/Prevent_Duty_Toolkit_for_Local_Authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/425189/Channel_Duty_Guidance_April_2015.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/425189/Channel_Duty_Guidance_April_2015.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-extremism-strategy


7          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

CONTEST, Prevent  
and Channel
Overview
CONTEST is the name of  the Government’s 
counter-terrorism strategy; its most recent 
iteration was published in 2018. The strategy 
identifies Islamist terrorism as the principal 
terrorist threat to the UK, with extreme right-
wing terrorism a growing concern. CONTEST 
identifies four key elements in response. 
These are: 

•	 Pursue 

•	 Prevent 

•	 Protect 

•	 Prepare. 

Jointly they aim to identify terrorists, prevent 
people from becoming terrorists, protect 
society from terrorist attacks, and mitigate 
the impact of  attacks when they occur. While 
local authorities may have a role in all these 
elements, the focus for this guidance is on the 
Prevent strand. 

Prevent places a statutory duty on certain 
specified authorities, including councils, 
to “have due regard to the need to prevent 
people from being drawn into terrorism” 
as per the Counter-Terrorism and Security 
Act 2015. The phrase “due regard to” has 
a specific legal meaning which deserves 
explanation. It is not an administrative 
requirement or tickbox exercise – having “due 
regard” to this duty is fundamental to the role 
of  a decision-maker. As such, clear evidence 
must be available that regard was given, and 

The Prevent duty: what the statutory guidance says

The full guidance can be found at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-
guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales 

The statutory guidance provides detailed information about the exact nature of  the Prevent, 
duty, and the organisations to which it applies. 

S26 of  the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 places a duty on certain bodies to have 
“due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”. Bodies subject 
to the Prevent duty are expected to take a risk-based approach to how they do so. 

The Government’s strategy to meet this duty focuses on all forms of  terrorism and extremism.  

The guidance identifies best practice for each of  the sectors subject to the duty, and sets out 
ways in which they can comply with it. The relevant sectors and organisations are:

•	 local government (including all councils, but not combined authorities)

•	 criminal justice (including probation providers, and prison and Young Offender Institution 
(YOI) governors

•	 education and childcare (including education providers)

•	 health and social care (including NHS trusts)

•	 police (including chief  officers of  police and police and crime commissioners).

In relation to local government, the guidance notes the statutory requirements under the 
legislation for establishing a Channel panel to offer support to those at risk of  radicalisation 
and sets out that risk assessment, planning, collaboration and training are important 
activities for councils to undertake with a mind to fulfilling their responsibilities under the 
Prevent duty. These activities are all discussed in more detail in the sections which follow. 

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales


8          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

that the decision-maker was properly aware 
of  their duty to do so (so the duty cannot be 
delegated away to other people). Overall, the 
duty to pay “due regard” to an issue is a duty 
to take active steps to look into a matter to 
inform oneself  about an issue and its facets 
before reaching an informed decision. 

In the specific context of  Prevent, the Prevent 
guidance suggests that the way in which 
decision-makers must pay “due regard” to 
the Prevent duty needs to reflect a risk-averse 
approach. The Prevent duty should therefore 
play a significant role in how the council 
and its partners make decisions on a wide 
range of  local public policy issues – and it 
will require councils to take action to seek to 
mitigate and eliminate even risks that might 
seem on balance to be remote. 

Managing that duty may be a challenge 
when it comes into contact with other public 
duties (such as the public sector equality 
duty), people’s rights (as provided for in the 
Human Rights Act) and, potentially, other 
legal duties (such as the requirement in the 
Children Act that the best interests of  the 
child be “paramount” – an issue relevant to 
the intersection between counter-extremism 
and safeguarding, which we cover below). It 
also has implications for partnership working. 
Local authorities are not the only institutions 
that are at the centre of  this work: similar 
duties are put on health care providers, 
education providers, prisons, and other 
institutions as outlined in the Prevent Strategy. 

The Prevent duty requires all eligible authorities 
to come up with strategies and action plans 
proportionate to the local risk in order to be 
able to achieve the three objectives set in the 
Prevent strategy – namely, to:  

•	 provide a response to the ideological 
threats of  terrorism 

•	 prevent people from being drawn to 
terrorism, and 

•	 assist organisations, sectors, and 
institutions that may face risks of  
radicalisation. 

11	 www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-toolkit-for-local-authorities-and-partner-agencies 

A central part of  the Prevent duty is taking 
a risk-based approach – understanding 
local terrorism-related threats, whilst 
acknowledging that both risks and responses 
will vary across areas. Resources and funding 
should be prioritised based on the risks, 
which makes risk assessment a key part of  
any further Prevent actions in local authorities. 
Currently, on a countrywide level, CONTEST 
identifies terrorist organisations affiliated to 
Daesh and Al-Qa’ida as the main threats, 
alongside growing threats from extreme  
right-wing terrorism. 

According to the Prevent strategy and 
Prevent duty toolkit11, the following provide 
overarching themes for authorities in fulfilling 
the Prevent duty: 

•	 effective leadership that will be able to 
assess risks of  radicalisation, and create 
and deliver successful action plans to 
combat terrorism

•	 working in partnership with police, local 
Prevent Coordinators (see below), criminal 
justice agencies, education, health, and 
third sector, formal and informal civil 
groups to ensure the success of  Prevent 
programmes

•	 appropriate capabilities, eg appropriate 
understanding of  extremism, pathways to 
radicalisation, and measures to counter 
radicalisation by staff  members. 

Role of councils
In addition to the requirements set out above 
for all specified authorities, there are a 
number of  duties specific to councils. These 
include establishing or making use of  existing 
multi-agency groups to assess the local 
picture, coordinate activity, and put in place 
arrangements to monitor the impact  
of  safeguarding work. 

In practice, the Prevent strategy and duty 
should translate into the following:

•	 giving due consideration to the risks of  
radicalisation

•	 getting an understanding, and assessing 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-toolkit-for-local-authorities-and-partner-agencies


9          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

the risks, of  people being drawn into 
terrorism in local areas

•	 building a strategic Prevent board to 
oversee Prevent delivery (or CONTEST 
delivery more broadly) – or using existing 
multi-agency partnerships/forums to 
fulfil this role, such as community safety 
partnerships 

•	 developing an action plan to prevent 
people from being drawn into or supporting 
terrorism, if  necessary (see section 1, 
below) – an action plan can include 
projects, training, activities, measures, or 
interventions that help address local risk

•	 subsequently monitoring the 
implementation of  the action plan, and 
measuring the impact of  the work that 
follows

•	 supporting the Channel process and 
making appropriate referrals.

The legislative implications of  the Prevent 
duty for local authorities are set out in 
detail in the Prevent statutory guidance and 
supplementary toolkit. 

To help support and coordinate this activity 
some local authorities have received central 
government funding for dedicated Prevent 
coordinator posts (see below) and, in some 
cases, additional funding for further posts or 
Prevent activity. 

Channel
A key element of  Prevent delivery for local 
authorities is Channel; a multi-agency 
approach to provide support to those who 
are vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism. 
Some aspects of  Channel are discussed in 
more detail in the section on safeguarding 
below. In general, it aims to identify 
individuals at risk of  radicalisation, assess 
the nature and extent of  that risk and then 
develop the most appropriate support plan 
for those individuals. It operates in the non-
criminal space and support is only provided 
where there is consent from the individual 
concerned (or parental consent where 
appropriate). 

12	  www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/425189/Channel_Duty_Guidance_April_2015.pdf 

This process is managed by a statutory 
‘Channel panel’, a body chaired by a local 
authority (in a two-tier area, this will be the 
county council) with representation from 
relevant sectors including police, health, 
safeguarding, housing, probation providers 
and others. Combined panels, covering 
multiple authorities, can be established. 
Statutory guidance provides a detailed 
framework for panels to follow in carrying out 
their duties12.  

Counter-extremism
Overview
Taking action against the direct threat of  
terrorism is work that, in the view of  the 
Government, needs to be bolstered by 
broader work to tackle extremism beyond 
terrorism, including challenging extremist 
ideology, promoting ‘fundamental values’,  
and addressing wider harms, such as hate 
crime or harmful illegal cultural practices.

Recent years have seen extremists 
increasingly exploiting apparently 
mainstream issues (for example around 
western military action, ‘freedom of  speech’ 
or ‘justice’ campaigns associated with 
criminal investigations) to garner support, 
especially using online forums to encourage 
readers to visit websites or receive regular 
messages which promote explicitly extreme 
views – for example justifying terrorism as 
a response to western military action or 
blaming all members of  a particular religious 
or ethnic group for specific problems or 
acts. Extremists are also using increasingly 
complex social media strategies to spread 
their ideologies and attract followers.

The national counter-extremism strategy was 
developed in 2015 to tackle extremism that 
may not always lead directly to terrorism, but 
which is harmful to individuals, communities, 
and the country. 

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/425189/Channel_Duty_Guidance_April_2015.pdf


10          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

The strategy defines extremism as: 

“…a vocal or active opposition to our 
fundamental values, including democracy, 
the rule of  law, individual liberty and mutual 
respect and tolerance of  different faiths 
and beliefs.”13

The definition of  extremism also includes 
calls for the death of  members of  our 
armed forces, whether in this country or 
overseas. 

The counter-extremism strategy identifies 
two main immediate threats: the global rise 
of  Islamist extremism, and violent and non-
violent extremism of  far-right and Neo-Nazi 
groups. Since the counter-extremism strategy 
was published in 2015, there has been an 
upward trend in the prevalence of  far and 
extreme right-wing groups operating in the UK.

Considering the broad definition of  
extremism, the strategy offers several 
examples of  the forms that non-violent 
extremism can take: 

•	 creating a setting in which the harms 
associated with extremism can occur, eg 
justifying violence and promoting hatred 
and division

•	 inciting violence and hatred against others 
based on protected characteristics such 
as religion, race, attitudes, or sexual 
orientation

•	 creating an unchallenged environment 
enabling various sorts of  discrimination, 
including discrimination against women

•	 supporting various illegal cultural practices

•	 promoting community segregation

•	 supporting alternative systems of  law that 
run contrary to British laws and practices

•	 promoting non-participation in Britain’s 
democratic institutions and processes and 
encouraging community isolation. 

This list is not exhaustive.

13	 Home Office (2015) Counter-Extremism Strategy https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/470088/51859_Cm9148_Accessible.pdf

As can be seen from these examples, 
extremism can occur on many levels and 
in various settings – many of  which have a 
significant impact on local areas. Recognising 
this pattern, the strategy offers the following 
four ways (referred to as ‘pillars’) to challenge 
extremism: 

•	 countering extremist ideology

•	 building partnerships with those who 
oppose extremists

•	 disrupting extremist activities

•	 building more cohesive communities.

Role of councils
While there are no specific statutory duties 
for local authorities around countering 
extremism, there are clear implications for 
local areas in terms of  the harms extremism 
can cause. The strategy identifies local 
authorities as key partners for national 
government in responding to extremism 
and building resilience locally, in particular 
in developing links with individuals, groups 
and organisations already standing up 
to extremists in their communities, and in 
acting to address community isolation and 
segregation. 

To support local activity, the Home Office 
currently provides funding for a number of  
counter-extremism coordinators in certain 
areas (selected according to an assessment 
of the scale and nature of the threat) – usually 
known as community coordinators. These are 
in addition to Prevent coordinators mentioned 
above and in a similar number – but not 
necessarily in the same areas. Community 
coordinators’ role includes improving local 
understanding of  extremism, engaging with 
and helping to capacity-build local community 
groups, and coordinating local cohesion and 
counter-extremism projects and disruption activity.

More detail about both community 
coordinators and Prevent coordinators and 
their roles can be found in section 3 below. 

Page 16

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/470088/51859_Cm9148_Accessible.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/470088/51859_Cm9148_Accessible.pdf


11          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Prevent, counter-extremism 
and safeguarding
This guidance will, in the next section, cover 
the importance of  ‘mainstreaming’ counter-
extremism and counter-terrorism policy in 
everything that public bodies do. This is about 
recognising that these issues do not sit in a 
discrete box – that the risks and threats of  
extremism and radicalisation, and helping to 
counter those threats through building strong and 
resilient communities, need to be considered by 
policymakers in everything they do. 

An example of  this in practice relates 
to safeguarding. Safeguarding is about 
supporting people’s welfare, as well as 
protecting them from harm. The Government 
has put in place a range of  duties on both 
public bodies and other organisations to 
ensure that the welfare of  children and 
vulnerable adults is protected.14 

14	 Including the Children Act 2004, the Care Act 2014 and the Children and Social Work Act 2017
15	 www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2

Beyond the requirements for protecting 
children and vulnerable adults, safeguarding 
intersects with a wide range of  other local 
services – the vulnerability of  an individual 
can be profoundly affected by the social 
and cultural circumstances in which they are 
brought up, their general health, their housing 
conditions, their educational environment and 
so on. 

Combating extremism and the threat of  
terrorism is, in this way, also an intrinsic part 
of  the safeguarding agenda. In terms of  
identifying and managing risks, the response 
is similar to that which public bodies 
take when tackling things such as child 
sexual exploitation and grooming for gang 
membership. 

Safeguarding children: law and practice 

The law relating to safeguarding children needs to be seen alongside the Prevent duty, and 
the other roles and responsibilities around counter-extremism discussed above. 

The way that these duties intersect demonstrates both the potential for complexity, but also 
the opportunities for scrutiny councillors to positively influence the way that partners work 
together – covered in more detail in the sections below. 

The general framework for safeguarding children is set out by the Children Act 1989 and 
the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 2017, requiring 
local authorities, police and clinical commissioning groups to work together with other 
partners locally to safeguard and promote the welfare of  all children in the local area. This 
includes threats from extremism influences leading to radicalisation. Government guidance 
on Working Together to Safeguard Children 201813 sets out that when assessing Channel 
referrals, local authorities and their partners should consider how best to align these with 
assessments undertaken under the Children Act 1989.

It should be noted in this context that referrals into the Prevent process and Channel are not 
reliant on meeting statutory safeguarding thresholds for safeguarding proceedings. However, 
scrutiny practitioners will want to be satisfied that Channel procedures are effectively aligned 
with other statutory safeguarding provision and that referral pathways for Channel are clear 
and well communicated to both front-line council staff  and partner agencies. This will also 
be an intrinsic part of  the training that should be offered to relevant personnel. 

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


12          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Support for councils  
to deliver Prevent  
and counter-extremism
In addition to the strategy documents and 
toolkits outlined above, further resources 
and support have been made available by 
the Home Office to tackle extremism and 
terrorism in local areas. The has included 
training, financial assistance, advice and 
communication support on Prevent and 
Counter-Extremism work, and meeting with 
colleagues from local authorities to discuss 
various approaches to counter extremism.

At a local authority level, there is the Special 
Interest Group on Countering Extremism 
(SIGCE)16, set up to provide support and 
develop good practice across local authorities 
in England and Wales. Co-chaired by Luton 
and Leeds councils, the SIGCE’s work has 
included developing networks for sharing 
learning, collating guidance and case studies 
and running a series of  thematic seminars. 
It has a dedicated group on the Knowledge 
Hub17 (the online discussion and information-
sharing space for local authority employees), 
which hosts a range of  case studies and 
resources on countering extremism, and 
also provides regular updates and forums for 
sharing learning amongst elected members. 
A similar online forum has been set up to help 
facilitate sharing of  learning about Prevent18 
delivery across local authorities. 

16	 www.local.gov.uk/sigce
17	 www.khub.net/group/special-interest-group-on-countering-extremism
18	 www.khub.net/group/prevent1
19	 www.local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-political-leadership/leadership-essentials
20	 www.local.gov.uk/building-cohesive-communities

The LGA has developed a support package 
for councils around counter-extremism, 
Prevent and cohesion. This includes 
leadership essentials training courses19 
for councillors to develop their leadership 
skills in these areas, share learning with 
peers and give members the opportunity 
to explore some of  the sensitivities around 
these policy areas in a safe space. The LGA 
has also published guidance on Building 
cohesive communities and on community 
engagement20.

Page 18

http://www.local.gov.uk/sigce
http://www.local.gov.uk/sigce
https://www.khub.net/group/special-interest-group-on-countering-extremism
https://www.khub.net/group/special-interest-group-on-countering-extremism
https://www.khub.net/group/prevent1
http://www.local.gov.uk/sigce
http://www.khub.net/group/special-interest-group-on-countering-extremism
http://www.khub.net/group/prevent1
http://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-political-leadership/leadership-essentials
http://www.local.gov.uk/building-cohesive-communities
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-political-leadership/leadership-essentials
https://www.local.gov.uk/building-cohesive-communities
https://www.local.gov.uk/building-cohesive-communities


13          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Four ways in which scrutiny 
practitioners can engage 

Overview
Scrutiny has an important role in supporting, 
challenging and informing the work that 
councils do with their partners both in 
countering extremism, and in fulfilling 
statutory duties under Prevent. Extremism, 
with both its potential to draw individuals 
into terrorist activity and its impact on 
communities more broadly, is a complex 
threat and requires that a number of  
individuals and groups work together in 
response – raising challenges for governance 
and responsibility, not to mention substantive 
control and prioritisation of  day-to-day activity. 

The main responsibility for counter-extremism 
and Prevent work, insofar as the council 
itself  goes, sits with Cabinet (or equivalent). 
However, because this work is not something 
which is easily compartmentalised, 
responsibility will often be shared across 
multiple parts of  the council, may be split 
across different Cabinet portfolios, and 
involve a number of  other partners. The 
relationships between these different actors 
is something to which we will return in the 
sections below – it has important implications 
for effective scrutiny and governance.  

21	 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/12A 

Managing the logistics of scrutiny 
work: getting the structures right and 
maintaining a focus on strategy
Structurally, there is no “right way” to carry  
out this work, and councils have used 
different approaches to date. For some, it  
may be difficult for scrutiny to look at policy 
in this area as something entirely discrete 
that can be “scrutinised” on its own. For this 
reason, councils may find it challenging to 
conduct standalone “scrutiny reviews on 
counter-extremism”, or similar. 

The sensitive nature of  much information 
relating to terrorism and extremism means 
that it is unlikely that scrutiny committees will 
be able to discuss even some strategic issues 
in public (for example, see our comments in 
the section below on Counter Terrorism Local 
Profile reports). Where sensitivity is likely, 
scrutiny and officers should speak together 
about the best way to facilitate members’ 
oversight of  these issues. It may be that 
more informal approaches are thought more 
appropriate, or that a way can be found to 
manage some discussion of  these issues 
as confidential agenda items, where the 
requirements of  Schedule 12A of  the Local 
Government Act 197221 (on confidential and 
exempt information) are satisfied. 

Page 19

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/12A


14          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

A flexible approach to the structures scrutiny 
uses to engage in this subject will make it 
easier for scrutiny’s interventions to be more 
proportionate, and strategic. A strategic 
approach is about engaging intelligently 
in the planning and policy development 
process, in a proportionate and relevant way. 
Scrutiny can engage in conversations around 
the key elements of  Prevent and counter-
extremism approaches at an early stage. 
These elements act as the framework within 
which policy on these areas is developed and 
are explained in more detail below. As we 
have noted above, early discussion may be 
best carried out informally. 

We have identified four main routes through 
which the overview and scrutiny function can 
make its contribution. These are:

1.	 supporting and challenging the 
assessment of  risk 

2.	 scrutinising Prevent and counter-
extremism action plans in general

3.	 monitoring and managing the authority’s 
partnerships and relationships with formal 
and informal civil groups, and the public

4.	 ‘mainstreaming’ counter-extremism  
and Prevent work. 

1. Supporting and 
challenging the 
assessment of  risk 
Both counter-extremism and Prevent 
strategies depend on risk assessment – both 
of the threats from extremism and terrorism 
themselves, and of the risks of people being 
drawn into extremism and terrorism. Proper risk 
assessment is seen as the first step in tackling 
the risks and threats from extremism in a local 
area, and hence it can be also a starting point 
for scrutiny. There are two elements to this:

•	 understanding the risks (eg to vulnerable 
individuals and communities, including 
their probability – this may include risks 
to individuals from online influences) and 
threats (eg the presence of  extremist 

groups or radicalisers and the presence of  
those who may be exploited) and how they 
have been assessed

•	 providing challenge based on councillors’ 
own understanding of  local issues, and the 
gathering of  independent evidence where 
appropriate. 

Understanding
An honest discussion about examples and 
incidences of  extremism and radicalisation 
can set a foundation for understanding the 
extremism landscape in the local area and 
for ensuring that the cabinet and scrutiny 
committee members are on the same spot  
in response. 

Local examples of  extremism are useful 
in ensuring that councillors have a similar 
understanding of  what “extremism” is to 
that held by both officers and those on the 
executive side (as well as partners). It will 
also help in explaining the risk assessment 
process that the council and it partners 
undertake.  

If  scrutiny wants to better understand the 
local threats of  violent and non-violent 
extremism, there are several available ways  
of  gathering information about extremism in 
the area. 

One tool to use for this purpose is the Counter 
Terrorism Local Profile (CTLP) assessment. 
These are strategic assessments which 
outline the threat and vulnerability from 
terrorism-related activity within a specific 
area. They are used to develop a shared 
understanding between partners of  risks and 
vulnerabilities and to provide an evidence 
base for local Prevent activity, including 
helping to inform areas’ assessment of  risk 
(and the mainstreaming of  that activity into 
day-to-day multi-agency work). 

These reports are prepared by Counter 
Terrorism Policing as strategic documents, 
rather than detailed and complete 
assessments of  activity in an area. CTLPs 
are to be shared with the local authority (for 
instance with chief  executives or Prevent 
leads), but its use and wider dissemination 
may be subject to restrictions, as set out 

Page 20



15          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

in the national CTLP guidance.22 Regional 
police Counter Terrorism Units (CTUs) 
should provide a version of  the CTLP to local 
authorities which can be considered at a 
scrutiny committee meeting. 

Another important resource which may be 
useful for assessing the risk of  extremism 
is data collected by council departments 
and local partners on appropriate issues. 
The frequency of  hate crimes (which 
target a victim’s race, religion, transgender 
identity, sexual orientation or disability), CPS 
data on Terrorism Act (TACT) offenders, 
the prevalence of  harmful illegal cultural 
practices, data related to radicalisation 
in schools or to which schoolchildren are 
subject – are all examples of  information that 
local authorities and partners will already 
possess. Some authorities publish yearly 
reports detailing socio-economic, crime, and 
demographic changes in their wards (eg 
London Boroughs of  Hackney, and Tower 
Hamlets23). Importantly, looking at these 
issues through the lens of  risk assessment 
means considering why, where and how 
these activities may contribute to increased 
risks from segregation and extremism; on 
the basis of  that understanding of  the risk 
they pose, the council (and scrutiny) can 
take a more informed approach to prioritising 
those challenges and dealing with them 
appropriately on a substantive basis. 

Local authorities can also operate a more 
systematic Community Tension Monitoring 
(CTM) system – a system that can record 
all extremism-related incidents. Cabinet 
and scrutiny members may find it useful to 
receive tension monitoring reports, where 
appropriate. The scrutiny committee should 
agree a process for receiving this information 
– for example, sharing relevant information 
privately with the chair or an identified 
member of  the committee so that they can 
influence the scrutiny work programme 
when a matter arises. Police submit CTM 
reports weekly to a central national team, and 

22	  www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118203/counter-terrorism-local-profiles.pdf
23	 Tower Hamlets Borough Statistics.  

Available from: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/borough_statistics/borough_statistics.aspx 
24	 Dudley Community Safety Partnership: Identification of Community Tension form.  

Available from: www.dudleysafeandsound.org/communitycohesion

councils should ask for access to this – and 
for an opportunity to input. 

In Dudley, the council developed its own 
reporting tool to measure community 
tensions24. It defines community tension as 
a “situation arising from acts or events that 
cause people to feel negative toward one 
another and/or services provided, putting at 
risk public order or threatening the peace 
and stability of  local communities”, and 
asks anyone who has witnessed something 
that could be construed as contributing to 
community tension to report it by submitting 
an online form giving the account of  the 
problem and its root cause. This mechanism 
allows Dudley Council to receive information 
about incidents that are not at times reported 
to the police and enables the council to 
enhance its understanding of  community 
tensions and potential risks of  extremism and 
radicalisation. 

Other partners have a big stake in tackling 
extremism, and hold their own data relating to 
risk. NHS, Ofsted/Estyn, and the police might 
be the most useful sources of  information, but 
other local partners (in particular, voluntary 
and community bodies) may also have 
some insight. For example, Ofsted has some 
information about potential radicalisation 
at schools and in other educational places 
which may be of  use, and the police have 
intelligence reports on a wide range of  
extremism related issues (in some cases, 
information may be more difficult to access  – 
it will require liaison with council officers, and 
those working in outside organisations,  
to understand what information can be 
shared with members). 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118203/counter-terrorism-local-profiles.pdf
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/lgnl/community_and_living/borough_statistics/borough_statistics.aspx
https://www.dudleysafeandsound.org/communitycohesion


16          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Case Study 
LB Merton Prevent duty task 
group

LB Merton’s Children and Young People 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel recognised 
the importance of  the role schools play in 
their implementation of  the Prevent duty 
to help keep children and young people 
safe from the risks of  radicalisation. It 
commissioned a Prevent Duty Task Group 
to highlight, collate and share Prevent 
practice as well as support the Merton 
community to work collectively to prevent 
radicalisation. 
 
The review, completed in 2018, examined 
the full range of  Prevent practice being 
delivered in Merton’s schools including 
primary, secondary and special settings; 
explored effective and innovative practice, 
as well as any specific challenges faced 
in delivery (including perceptions); 
considered the support provided by 
partners; and sought to celebrate and 
disseminate Prevent practice happening in 
Merton’s schools.25

There are other mechanisms available for 
scrutiny to help define local threats. At a 
national level, there are bodies producing 
information which could provide context to 
making assessments of  local risk easier. For 
example, Government and parliamentary 
bodies might include: 

•	 the Home Office Extremism Analysis Unit, 
established to support central government 
and the public sector to understand 
extremism

•	 a cross-departmental body called 
Research, Information and Communications 
Unit (RICU) that was created to provide 
informational support on terrorism and 
extremism issues 

25	 London Borough of Merton (2018) Prevent duty task group report https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/documents/s21182/
Prevent%20report%20ver%203.pdf, with a further update report published in 2019 https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/documents/
s26214/Prevent%20task%20group%20update%20report.pdf 

26	 www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/home-affairs-committee/publications
27	 www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-counter-terrorism-security-office
28	 https://lginform.local.gov.uk
29	 www.gov.uk/government/publications/challenging-hateful-extremism

•	 the Home Affairs Select Committee26 
whose work can be a source of  relevant 
information – particularly because it 
provides a political dimension to risk 
management 

•	 a range of  other Government reports and 
publications that can be a source of  useful 
information, such as the Counter-Terrorism 
Unit reports27 or LG Inform28 databases 
which allow you to find customised data

•	 the independent Commission for Countering 
Extremism, which has commissioned and 
published a number of  academic papers on 
extremism and its initial report, Challenging 
Hateful Extremism29, was published in 
October 2019.

Several non-government organisations and 
think-tanks also issue reports that may assist 
with the understanding of  what the threats 
from extremism are and what are the potential 
ways of  combatting those. The following are 
examples of  bodies that produce research 
and publications around these and related 
themes, which may be useful:

•	 British Future

•	 Radicalisation Awareness Network 

•	 Royal United Services Institute

•	 The Institute for Public Policy Research 

•	 The Institute for Strategic Dialogue.

A big part of  understanding the risks from 
extremism and radicalisation also lie in 
understanding the work and priorities of  
those in the council that hold a primary 
responsibility for coordinating Prevent and 
counter-extremism work. Most commonly, 
counter-extremism and Prevent work are 
placed alongside community safety, but other 
departments (particularly children’s services) 
play an important role, especially in relation to 
preventing the radicalisation of  young people. 
Where the focus lies may depend on local 
context and the nature of  extremism threats. 

Page 22

https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/documents/s21182/Prevent%20report%20ver%203.pdf
https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/documents/s21182/Prevent%20report%20ver%203.pdf
https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/documents/s26214/Prevent%20task%20group%20update%20report.pdf
https://democracy.merton.gov.uk/documents/s26214/Prevent%20task%20group%20update%20report.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/home-affairs-committee/publications
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-counter-terrorism-security-office
https://lginform.local.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/challenging-hateful-extremism
http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/home-affairs-committee/publications/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?departments%5B%5D=national-counter-terrorism-security-office
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?departments%5B%5D=national-counter-terrorism-security-office
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/commission-for-countering-extremism
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/commission-for-countering-extremism


17          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Scrutineers, in turn, can explore whether this 
choice of  coordinating department is the 
most suitable and relevant – and whether 
appropriate links are being made with other 
departments to ensure that work is joined up. 

It is important however to emphasise that 
understanding risk is not a one-off  process  
– particularly as the local, national, and 
international picture for extremism and 
radicalisation continue to evolve. 

Case study  
Wolverhampton Council task 
and finish review of  Prevent and 
counter-extremism

In 2012/13 Wolverhampton Council’s 
scrutiny committee established a task 
and finish group to undertake a review of  
Prevent and counter-extremism measures30. 
As part of  its recommendations, it 
suggested that all councillors should be 
annually briefed on extremism threats, 
raising awareness, and building links with 
community groups – but this approach will 
not necessarily be appropriate for all areas. 
It was also agreed that Prevent issues 
should form part of  the induction process, 
to help build new councillors’ knowledge 
of  the subject. This briefing is regularly 
updated in the light of  changed risks and 
threats. 

This kind of  review allows members to keep 
a ‘watching brief’ over the changing risk 
landscape – but as we have noted above, 
it is important to ensure that standalone 
reviews of  counter-extremism do not lead 
to a sense that the subject is discrete from 
the council’s other duties. 

Challenging
Scrutiny may debate the methods and data 
used by the council’s executive to reach 
its assessment of  risk (eg to vulnerable 
people), or the prioritisation of  threats (eg 
the presence of  extremists or radicalisers in 
the area) –  essentially, scrutiny has the right 
to examine and challenge the cabinet’s risk 

30	  Wolverhampton City Council (2013). Prevent strategy task and finish group/final report.  

assessment and can use a range of  options 
to do so. For example: 

•	 establish a task and finish review panel  
to focus specifically on risks and threats 

•	 consider risk and threat as part of  the 
process for deciding how and when issues 
should be added to the work programme 

•	 discuss ‘risks and threats’ itself  as an 
agenda item for the committee

•	 task scrutiny or democratic services 
officers to obtain more information, or 
request more data on the subject from 
senior officers or executive. 

Elected councillors who sit on scrutiny 
committees can bring a unique perspective on 
extremism-related issues from their wards and 
communities. Being elected representatives 
of  their communities, councillors have insight 
into local perceptions of  extremism and 
Prevent, and can use this different perspective 
to exert challenge on the way that cabinet, 
senior officers, and others have assessed and 
managed associated risks.

Scrutiny may wish to explore (and make 
effective recommendations on) whether 
assessments of  risk and threats have been 
adequate – including, for example:

•	 if  the causes of  extremism locally are 
understood

•	 if  the threats assessed in the CTLP are 
meaningful, high quality and have been 
shared with decision makers

•	 whether protective services are in place to 
manage the risks to vulnerable individuals 
or communities

•	 whether the right people are involved in 
partnership approaches to these. 

Page 23



18          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Potential questions

•	 What is the council’s assessment of  the risks associated with violent and non-violent 
extremism?

•	 How are risks identified, managed and assessed? Who is involved?

•	 How are risks reviewed and revised over time? Is this consistent?

•	 What are the most significant risks, and what steps are being taken to mitigate them?

•	 When is this assessment undertaken, and how and when is it updated? 

•	 Which methods/reports has the council used to identify threats? (for example, the CTLP). 

•	 What are the focus areas of  local action plans to respond to the risks and threats?

In relation to specific risks and threats, scrutiny councillors might want to ask about who 
is leading on them and who in the wider partnership is involved. This is discussed in more 
detail in section 3, below. 

Some more generic questions which can be asked to understand and address risk can be 
found in the CfPS guide ‘Risk and resilience’31 (2016). 

Other questions might include:

•	 How are incidents which have extremist elements to them identified in the local area? 
Have there been any such incidents recently? 

•	 To what extent are risks around radicalisation and extremism linked to the council’s 
public sector equality duty, and in particular the experience of  those local people’s 
‘protected characteristics’ under the Equality Act?

•	 How – if  they are an issue – are tensions in the local community identified and tackled?

•	 Are there attempts by extremist groups or activists to stage local activity (eg protest/
march or hold events) or cause any other divisions? 

•	 Is there support for extreme views in the local area, and if  so what steps are being taken 
to challenge this?

•	 Is there any ground or need for scrutiny to challenge the risk assessment that has been 
made, and to add new risks?

•	 How should scrutiny’s ongoing oversight of  this issue be organised?

Getting answers to these questions will give scrutiny a baseline of  understanding about local 
extremism and terrorism threats. This will make it easier to draw out specific operational and 
strategic issues relating to extremism when looking at other related subjects as part of  their 
more general scrutiny work, and will also allow scrutiny to focus in on particular risks in more 
detail where necessary.

31	 www.cfps.org.uk/?publication=risk-and-resilience

Page 24

https://www.cfps.org.uk/?publication=risk-and-resilience
http://www.cfps.org.uk/?publication=risk-and-resilience


19          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

2. Scrutinising Prevent  
and counter extremism 
local action plans 
According to the Prevent duty, any authority 
that assesses there is a risk of  violent or non-
violent extremism will need to produce an 
action plan; in practice, this will mean that all 
local authorities should produce some form 
of  plan – either a stand-alone document, or, 
particularly in areas with lower threat, these 
may be incorporated into a broader plan or 
strategy (eg the community safety strategy). 
All the activities we consider below arise from 
those action plans, and any other actions/
plans which have been drafted to counter the 
threat of  extremism, under the 2015 counter-
extremism strategy. 

Action plans
Action plans are likely to look different 
depending on the area to which they relate, 
and each area will have its own challenges. 
Both the statutory duties around Prevent 
and the national counter-extremism strategy 
provide a framework within which the risk of  
different eventualities can be considered, and 
hence to establish what the priorities in an 
action plan(s) might be. 

In general, the common contents of   
action plans will include:

•	 the establishment of  a framework and 
system for assessing risk, and the detail 
on how those risks will be mitigated, which 
can be used both by the council and its 
partners (including, for example, schools 
and contractors) – we deal with this in more 
detail in section 1

•	 the establishment and maintenance of  
arrangements for partnership working, and 
the development of  closer partnerships 
with other bodies, including governance 
arrangements, and setting out ownership 
and accountability for agreed actions –  
we deal with this in more detail in section 3 

•	 plans for training and awareness-raising

32	  Wolverhampton City Council (2013). Prevent Strategy Task and Finish group report

•	 plans for how organisations, both 
individually and collectively, will ensure that 
they are not providing funding or support 
for extremism by making public facilities 
(eg libraries, community centres, other 
services) available for these purposes, 
even if  only inadvertently

•	 plans for directly engaging with the public 
to develop and engage in narratives that 
challenge extremist ideologies.

Where such actions are part of  a Prevent 
strategy, or relate to Prevent duties, they will 
naturally require that the bodies involved pay 
“due regard to” the Prevent duty in delivering 
local public services more generally. 

Of  course, many Prevent and counter-
extremism strategies will contain a range 
of  locally-inspired measures, and scrutiny 
councillors will want to find out more about 
those in order to understand if  they could do 
work to support and challenge the council 
and its partners as it delivers against those 
commitments. 

Case study 
Wolverhampton Council safer 
communities panel

In 2012/13 the Safer Communities Scrutiny 
Panel in Wolverhampton established a task 
and finish group to review the city council’s 
Prevent arrangements and actions32.  
 
Some of  the recommendations included 
adding detailed activities and projects into 
Prevent action plans, delivering Prevent 
training to community-based organisations, 
launching mandatory Prevent e-learning 
training, targeting training to service 
providers working with vulnerable individuals, 
and including a range of  partners in 
designing further Prevent action plans.

Page 25



20          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

A general review of  an action plan is 
something that scrutiny should undertake 
in order to understand more about the 
issues and local priorities. This may act as a 
springboard into more detailed scrutiny of  
individual elements of  the plan, or scrutiny 
may decide to undertake lighter touch 
scrutiny of  the implementation of  the plan  
on an ongoing basis. 

More generally
Beyond the action plan, scrutiny can engage 
cabinet and the council’s partners in a more 
general conversation about the work that 
is done to prevent radicalisation and tackle 
extremism.

For instance, scrutiny committees can ask  
for a narrative on the council’s work across 
the four ‘pillars’ in the counter-extremism 
strategy, which are: 

•	 countering extremist ideology 

•	 building partnerships with those who 
oppose extremists  

•	 disrupting extremist activities 

•	 building more cohesive communities. 

Committees can ask what is being done in 
relation to each of  these pillars, what the 
proposals are for the future, and can provide 
recommendations based on the answers. 
Similar questions can be asked of  the way that 
the council is engaging with its Prevent duties. 

Scrutiny can also use its links with the area’s 
police and crime panel to engage with 
the police and crime commissioner (and 
by extension the police) on these issues – 
something on which we comment in more 
detail in the section below on partnerships. 

Potential questions

•	 Is there a Prevent and/or counter-
extremism action plan in the authority? 
If  there are both, how do they relate to 
each other?

•	 How does an action plan(s) address the 
national Prevent and counter-extremism 
duties/strategies?

•	 What kinds of  activities has the council 
planned to tackle extremism? What 
local evidence underpins the need 
for these activities and how do they 
mitigate against identified risks and 
threats (see also section 1)?

•	 What systems are in place in the action 
plan to ensure that responsibilities and 
duties are appropriate, well-understood 
(and consistent) across a local 
area? (This links to the questions we 
suggest might be asked in relation to 
partnership working, discussed below).  

•	 What evidence is there that measures to 
tackle extremism and radicalisation are 
successful and effective? 

3. Monitoring and 
managing partnerships 
and relationships 
Both Prevent and counter-extremism 
work depends on effective multi-agency 
partnerships and on having working 
relationships with a range of  formal and 
informal civil groups, for instance: 

•	 police

•	 local safeguarding partners

•	 housing associations

•	 probation services

•	 community cohesion groups 

•	 community safety partnership

•	 schools

•	 faith-based organisations

·	

Page 26



21          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

•	 civil society organisations

•	 community representatives and activists

•	 other key local partners, such as the 
military.

Scrutiny can play a major role in identifying 
relevant and appropriate groups and 
organisations, and in developing, and 
managing working relationships with them. 

There are statutory requirements for some of  
these partners relating to Prevent; many will 
also be expected to sit on Channel panels 
to provide support to individuals at risk of  
radicalisation. In order to ensure that each 
partner is delivering against these duties 
effectively, existing partnerships (for example, 
the community safety partnership) need to be 
used – as well as new partners brought in as 
the need arises. This has led some councils to 
create specific prevent partnership groups or 
strategic boards (where proportionate) –  the 
starting point for multi-agency working – to 
provide strategic governance and oversight 
of  Prevent delivery.

There are two tasks for scrutiny here:

•	 Monitoring and managing existing 
relationships. Scrutiny can map and 
understand how different partners and 
partnerships intersect with each other on 
this policy agenda; by doing so, members 
can identify gaps and areas of  confused 
accountability and responsibility, if  they 
exist. 

•	 Developing new relationships and ensuring 
that partners benefit from the input of  
scrutiny as a partner itself. 

Monitoring and managing existing 
relationships
A large range of  local bodies have a stake 
in tackling extremism and radicalisation. 
Scrutiny has a role in understanding how 
those bodies work together, the way they  
set priorities and the way that accountability 
flows between them. 

A group of  partners who work together 
effectively can also help to understand and 
respond to any local public scepticism or 

resistance to Prevent or counter-extremism 
activity. Civil society and advocacy groups  
– brought together as part of  a partnership  
– can help to identify where there is the risk 
of  this, and can also help to mitigate and 
amend the approach that professionals may 
take if  appropriate – an approach with which 
scrutiny can assist, given members’ local 
representative roles. This should be about 
entering into a local dialogue about Prevent 
and counter-extremism policy – where 
concerns lie, where public bodies might 
need to change their approach and where 
misunderstandings or misconceptions about 
these policy areas have the potential to cause 
further problems, and should be countered. 

For statutory partners, scrutiny might look 
at consistency in responding to extremism 
incidents. It might also look at ensuring 
partners have a shared understanding 
of  referral pathways for Prevent and of  
the relationship between the police and 
safeguarding in supporting vulnerable 
people. Partners should use the same 
systems – and the same risk assessment 
methods – to refer people onto these 
pathways. Usually, this will be because a risk 
has been identified of  them being drawn into 
extremist ideologies. It might also examine 
how effectively partners share information 
and the contribution each partner makes to 
the overall partnership approach.

Overall, scrutiny will need to be aware 
of  current partnerships that work on 
counter-extremism and Prevent, assess 
how representative and effective these 
partnerships are, and determine whether they 
would benefit from adding new organisations. 
There may be other ways of  holding that 
work to account in line with the need to 
‘mainstream’ Prevent and counter-extremism, 
which we discuss below. 

Understanding the links between  
policy and operation
While partners will set the strategic direction, 
there are certain groups and individuals 
with the direct responsibility of  turning that 
direction into action. Scrutiny can help by 
understanding who these individuals are and 

Page 27



22          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

ensuring that the priorities set for their work 
are clear and unambiguous, and their lines of  
accountability well understood. 

In particular, scrutiny can assist with:

•	 ensuring governance structures and 
lines of  accountability are appropriate 
and effective, both within the council and 
amongst wider partners

•	 ensuring that Prevent is a part of  the work 
of  the local community safety partnership

•	 ensuring the accountability of  Prevent and 
community coordinators, where these exist

•	 mapping responsibilities in two-tier areas

•	 mapping responsibilities among the main 
Prevent and counter-extremism delivery 
partners.

Community safety
The Government’s counter-extremism 
strategy specifies that building more cohesive 
communities and maintaining effective 
partnerships is one of  the four main ways of  
challenging extremism. Ensuring community 
cohesion and safety is also a significant part 
of  Prevent work. 

Statutory partnerships to tackle crime and 
community safety were first established in 
the late 1990s. All local authority areas have 
these partnerships, called community safety 
partnerships (CSPs), in place.33 In England, 
in two-tier areas, the statutory partnerships 
sit at district level, with county-level 
structures, known as county strategy groups, 
complementing them. 

Some areas have written community 
cohesion strategies. Depending on the 
scrutiny landscape, some authorities have 
communities’ scrutiny committees, which 
may consider a range of  issues including 
oversight of  community safety. 

These partnerships, and the strategies 
they work on together, provide important 
mechanisms for tackling extremism and 
terrorism, often setting the broad framework 

33	 comprising the local authority, police, fire and rescue service, national probation service, community rehabilitation company  
and clinical commissioning group

for counter-extremism work, which scrutiny 
need to understand. 

Scrutiny of  CSPs is on a statutory footing. 
The Police and Justice Act 2006 sets out the 
details, and was supplemented by statutory 
guidance in 2009 – this guidance provides 
more information on the generalities of  CSP 
scrutiny. 

A later section of  this document highlights 
the importance of  ‘mainstreaming’ awareness 
of  extremism and associated issues into all 
council and partnership business. This will 
be a consideration for the CSP, and for CSP 
scrutiny as well. 

Mapping and understanding the 
complementary roles of  CSP partners is 
something which scrutiny should be doing 
anyway; understanding too, the funding and 
other relationships between the CSP and the 
police and crime commissioner (or mayor, 
where applicable) is also a general aspect of  
this work. 

In relation to counter-extremism and Prevent, 
scrutiny can specifically investigate the 
PCC’s police and crime priorities, the CSP’s 
priorities for tackling crime and disorder, and 
consequent actions, to ensure that a focus 
and consideration of  counter-extremism is 
central to what the CSP is doing. Scrutiny 
councillors will also need to be aware of  the 
role of  police and crime panels here. Panels 
have a duty to hold the PCC to account; 
scrutiny at a local level can support that 
process but how this happens will depend 
on what local agreement might exist between 
local scrutiny and the panel. 

Page 28



23          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Case study 
Leeds’ forced marriage and 
honour based abused pledge  
of  intention

Leeds City Council has worked with local 
partners to establish Leeds as a beacon 
city for tackling ‘honour-based’ abuse 
and forced marriage. The council, police, 
police and crime commissioner and health 
partners all signed a pledge to work 
collectively to tackle these issues through a 
coordinated city-wide response, under the 
direction of  a multi-agency steering group 
 
Working closely with Karma Nirvana, a 
human rights charity based in Leeds which 
supports victims of  ‘honour-based’ abuse 
and forced marriage, the pledge includes 
initiatives to promote ways of  safeguarding 
children and adults at risk, increase public 
awareness, influence social change, 
develop effective support and responses 
for victims, and develop workforce capacity 
and capability. The work saw calls to local 
support services increase by 40 per cent in 
a year.

Coordinators 
A useful first step for any scrutiny function 
exploring counter-extremism for the first 
time might be to map the various duties, 
relationships, and responsibilities of  different 
partners for three reasons:

•	 to better understand local planning  
and delivery 

•	 to identify any gaps, duplications or other 
shortcomings in governance

•	 to identify the most appropriate places in 
the system for scrutiny to be carried out. 

In councils, much of  the local work on  
Prevent and counter-extremism will be carried 
out on the ground by dedicated coordinators 
– nationally or locally funded individuals 
with specific responsibility to bring together 
partners to tackle these issues. 

Prevent coordinators’ role includes:

•	 working with partners, including local 
community groups – both to ensure that 
they are aware of  their own responsibilities 
under Prevent, and to share intelligence

•	 specifically, working with partners to 
interpret and act on the Counter Terrorism 
Local Profile (CTLP)

•	 developing and leading on local Prevent action 
plans and projects to address local risks

•	 in general, providing a coordinating role 
between the council and other specified 
partners.

Counter-extremism coordinators, often called 
community coordinators, may have the 
following core objectives: 

•	 improving understanding of  extremism 
locally, including the drivers, prevalence 
and wider harms of  extremism in that area

•	 sharing local and national insights and 
using these to help shape the local strategy 
and interventions, including disrupting 
extremist groups, countering harmful 
ideology and building community cohesion

•	 identifying, supporting and capacity-
building local mainstream voices (eg civil 
society groups) who are doing positive 
work to challenge extremism and create 
more resilient communities

•	 amplifying the reach of  civil society 
groups by signposting them to support 
opportunities.

In some local authorities, additional staff  may 
be employed in related roles, for instance as 
Prevent education officers, in engagement 
roles or as community cohesion officers.

Scrutiny may be interested in looking at:

•	 whether their authority is a Prevent or 
counter-extremism supported/partnership 
(priority) area, as identified at national level

•	 whether the authority has been offered  
and/or has an appointed coordinator, or 
other related roles, and how these officers 
work together

Page 29



24          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

•	 a councillor from the executive who 
would be a dedicated portfolio holder 
– or more than one executive member 
where responsibilities may be split across 
portfolios (for instance, community safety 
and children’s services or safeguarding).

If  a position of  community coordinator or 
Prevent coordinator exists, scrutiny should be 
able to work with that/those person/people 
(alongside cabinet and the responsible 
chief  officer) to understand exactly what 
value scrutiny might be able to add to their 
role(s). While some dedicated Prevent and 
community coordinator posts may be Home 
Office funded, technically these individuals 
are local authority employees and can still  
be held accountable by scrutiny. 

In terms of  general background and 
oversight, scrutiny can ask for report 
updates about the main challenges in the 
authority, and about potential partnerships 
that coordinators are interested in building. 
Information from these conversations can 
be used to identify particular areas in which 
scrutiny might find it productive to involve 
itself  in more detail – digging into particular 
issues or risks, and strategic issues where 
a coordinator might be struggling to gain 
traction. Of  course, the focus of  such scrutiny 
will need to avoid direct operational issues 
– this includes, for instance, any details 
of  Channel referrals, or specific cases/
interventions.

As coordinators continue to develop and 
deliver their roles, the opportunity is there 
for scrutiny to support them, building 
relationships as national and local policy on 
extremism and terrorism continues to evolve. 
Many councillors and local government 
officers and employees with whom we talked 
about scrutiny stated that they would prefer 
scrutiny’s input into the issues that they are 
dealing with as early as possible, to ensure 
that scrutiny and officers are on the same 
page and have a shared understanding of  
issues. 

34	 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/736759/Prevent_Duty_
Toolkit_for_Local_Authorities.pdf 

If  an authority operates without a dedicated 
coordinator(s), scrutiny should be able to 
identify or recommend a person within a 
council who will be responsible for local 
operational delivery of  the Prevent duty, for 
instance, and/or gathering information and 
providing updates on Prevent and counter-
extremism. There may be a plan in place 
which involves the council alongside its 
community safety partners, and which will 
give scrutiny a start in understanding where 
responsibility lies. 

Apart from coordinators, scrutineers can 
start building a relationship with relevant 
portfolio holders in their authorities, to 
better understand where links and mutual 
accountabilities lie. Informal discussions 
(with portfolio holders and senior officers, for 
example) will help scrutiny to make better 
judgments about where it might add value. 
By creating positive working relationships 
with relevant portfolio holders, scrutiny will be 
able to have access to information, and will 
be able to contribute to the debate around 
extremism at a much earlier stage. 

Two-tier accountability
The second big accountability issue relates 
to counter extremism and Prevent work in 
two-tier authorities. According to the Prevent 
duty, responsibilities for risk-assessment 
and action planning should be shared 
“proportionally” between authorities. The 
supplementary national guidance34  suggests 
that arrangements should take account of  
patterns of  risk and will vary, however it also 
suggests that a county-wide Prevent board 
should take responsibility for ensuring key 
activities are underway in each area. Scrutiny 
committees in two-tier authorities can explore, 
debate, and recommend how responsibilities 
should be split – ensuring that a sense of  
collective responsibility exists alongside 
individual, clear accountability for actions.

Page 30

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/736759/Prevent_Duty_Toolkit_for_Local_Authorities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/736759/Prevent_Duty_Toolkit_for_Local_Authorities.pdf


25          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Case study 
Worcestershire County Council

In its 2016 Annual Community Safety 
Report, Worcestershire specified that 
as a two-tier authority, the County is 
held responsible for strategic oversight, 
prioritisation, and overseeing the work 
of  Prevent and other related community 
safety issues.35 The district council level 
was, in turn, pronounced responsible for 
local threat analysis and the delivery of  
local action plans. In addition to that, action 
plans were to be developed at a district 
level, but should be in line with strategic 
priorities outlined at a county level.

The example of  Worcestershire does not 
indicate that all two-tier authorities should 
share responsibilities in the same way, 
rather it is an example of  a clear discussion 
and a formal follow-up about engagement 
and the division of  roles in two-tier 
authorities. There are also particular 
consequences in two-tier areas around the 
safeguarding agenda.

Other authorities and scrutiny committees 
may recommend different ways of  
separating responsibilities.  

Partners’ accountability 
Finally, another task scrutiny can undertake is 
responsibility mapping, ie identifying who is 
responsible for what kind of  actions in those 
partnerships. 

An example of  this work comes from Surrey 
County Council, which sent out Prevent packs 
to all its key partners with a questionnaire to 
fill in.36 The questionnaire included a range 
of  questions aimed at understanding what 
projects were being delivered, the status 
update, and who owned responsibility for that 
activity. All responses were consolidated and 
assessed by a Prevent partnership group  
with further recommendations to follow. 

35	 Worcestershire County Council (2016). Overview and Scrutiny Performance Board, 13 September 2016,  
Agenda Item 5: Annual Worcestershire County Council Community Safety Report

36	 Surrey County Council (2015) Prevent Strategy
37	 Home Office (2015) Counter Extremism Strategy

Engaging with the local community, 
countering narratives around extremism 
and managing criticism
The counter-extremism strategy highlights that 
contesting the online space, and providing 
a narrative to counter extremism, is key to 
ensuring “that the extremist voice is not 
the only one heard”37. Similarly, the Prevent 
strategy states that one of  its objectives is 
to respond to the “ideological challenge of  
terrorism and the threat we face from those 
who promote it”.  

There are different means by which this goal 
might be achieved at a local level:

•	 countering extremist narratives via online 
publications, press releases or blog posts 
and on social media

•	 working with partners to enhance dialogue 
about these issues, including openness 
about the risks and threats from extremism, 
and their implications, and about the 
responses to them

•	 running events and discussions on 
extremism-related issues and/or with 
vulnerable groups

•	 engaging with and supporting specific 
individuals at risk of  being drawn into 
terrorist activity through the Channel 
process

•	 engaging in conversations with residents 
about their issues and areas of  concern, 
which can support broader efforts on 
community cohesion.

Page 31



26          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Case studies 
Councils engaging with the 
community

In 2015, Luton launched a website called 
‘Let’s talk about it’.38 The website’s purpose 
is to raise awareness about extremism and 
terrorism-related issues and to facilitate 
dialogue on that topic. Some London 
boroughs and the city of  Luton have 
developed information campaigns and 
leaflets around extremism-related issues 
and distributed them widely. 

Another example comes from Tower 
Hamlets’ scrutiny committee, which 
recommended in 2016 that the Cabinet 
engage the council’s communication 
service in delivering a borough-wide 
campaign on promoting community 
cohesion.39

Manchester’s response to the Arena attack 
in May 2017 built on and benefitted from 
the council’s earlier engagement with the 
community in order to promote community 
cohesion. The council’s communities and 
equalities scrutiny committee had recently 
reviewed the city’s approach to community 
cohesion, but this work was subsequently 
reviewed, and in some places supplemented, 
after the attack. Perhaps the key learning 
from Manchester’s experience was not to wait 
for a trigger event before developing a local 
approach and building community links. In 
the days after the attack the council made an 
effort to promote information about how hate 
crimes could be reported. Alongside getting 
messages about this into the media, council 
staff  visited local high schools to emphasise 
the message that hate crimes should be 
reported, and to promote the True Vision40 
website as a way in which crimes could be 
simply reported using a smart phone, without 
the need for victims to go to a third party.

38	 http://m.luton.gov.uk/Page/Show/Community_and_living/crime-and-community-safety/letstalkaboutit/Pages/default.aspx
39	 London Borough of Tower Hamlets (2016). Scrutiny Review Report: Delivering the Prevent Duty; Promoting Safeguarding in 

Tower Hamlets 
40	 www.report-it.org.uk/home

Numerous councils have also hosted various 
discussions with community representatives, 
religious leaders, and activists on the 
importance of social cohesion, the need for 
integration, and intolerance of all kinds of  
extremism.

Some critics of  Government policy on 
counter-terrorism and counter extremism, 
particularly around the Prevent duty, have 
portrayed it as targeting and ‘spying upon’ 
certain communities, leading to a sense of  
persecution – and disengagement. These 
perceptions can cause real problems as 
local partners try to build resilience, manage 
extremism threats and provide support to 
vulnerable people at risk. 

Concerns have also been raised that 
religious observance has been interpreted 
as extremism. Counter-extremism work is 
vulnerable to similar suspicions, along with 
concerns over the restriction of  free speech. 
Where such concerns exist in communities 
or are brought to councillors as individual 
cases, councillors have an important role 
to play both in raising legitimate concerns 
over the delivery of  Prevent and counter-
extremism work locally, but also in clearing 
up misunderstandings and clarifying the 
distinction between the legitimate aims of  
policy and shortcomings in its delivery. They 
also play an important role in supporting 
partners to address some of  these issues. 

Extremist groups and activists will exploit 
concerns about these policies in general and 
specific failings in their delivery in order to feed 
extremist narratives – for example that the British 
state is persecuting Muslims. This may involve 
misrepresenting the actions of Government, 
local authorities and other partners. Members 
– and scrutiny – need to take care to avoid 
amplifying such attempts at misrepresentation 
while at the same time avoiding the temptation 
to dismiss any criticism or examples of poor 
practice as ‘troublemaking’. 

Page 32

http://m.luton.gov.uk/Page/Show/Community_and_living/crime-and-community-safety/letstalkaboutit/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.report-it.org.uk/home
http://m.luton.gov.uk/Page/Show/Community_and_living/crime-and-community-safety/letstalkaboutit/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.report-it.org.uk/home


27          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Key to achieving this difficult balance will be:

•	 developing relationships based on mutual 
trust with appropriate community groups 
and other key figures, including internally 
(hence, why understanding which groups 
and organisations are involved in local 
policy-making is so crucial)

•	 establishing the facts at an early stage  
in as much detail as possible

•	 taking care to ensure that public 
statements are accurate, defensible and 
worded to avoid misrepresentation or 
misunderstanding

•	 demonstrating that concerns are being 
listened to and acted upon, mistakes 
acknowledged and corrected, and 
deliberate falsehoods rebutted effectively.

There may also be a role for scrutiny in 
exploring whether training provision is 
adequate for frontline workers – to ensure 
they recognise when, and how, they should 
respond to any extremism concerns. It 
may well be a factor in how partners work 
together to deliver the objectives of  Channel, 
in drawing people away from terrorism on an 
individual basis. The opportunities for scrutiny 
to look at risk assessment, and the referral 
process for those at risk of  radicalisation, has 
been covered above; and training provision is 
explored further, below. 

Elected members might have more credibility 
and legitimacy with local people – not to lead 
this work, but to explain and rationalise it to 
local people, and to investigate its end goals 
to ensure that local strategies and plans are 
properly scoped. These plans are likely to 
involve a range of  partners, particularly where 
they relate to the Prevent duty.

Looking at those plans will help to provide 
important political insight and perspectives 
when officers are planning such engagement 
work – which may well be sensitive. 

Members can look at partnership plans 
for Prevent and counter-extremism and 
determine whether:

•	 the council has accurately assessed the 
risks and threats from extremism, and 
focused campaigns around these

•	 any particular local narratives around 
extremism are properly understood, so they 
can be countered effectively

•	 the right people and partnerships are on 
board, meaning that counter-extremism 
narratives can be intelligently tailored to 
their target audience

•	 the council and its partners are 
‘broadcasting’ those counter-extremism 
narratives –   or whether a more 
fundamental local conversation is 
happening to address local concerns 
about complex issues around cohesion, 
integration and radicalisation.

Developing new relationships
Mapping of  relationships can help to identify 
gaps – particularly in the links that are 
made to local community groups, and their 
role in countering extremism. As part of  its 
work to support partnerships, scrutiny can 
start identifying other organisations who 
could usefully be involved – and exploring 
whether those claiming to speak on behalf  of  
communities are genuinely representative. 

One way of  doing this is through the building 
of  community directories. Community 
directories are an overview of  all available 
organisations that can assist counter-
extremism work, including: faith-based 
organisations, youth centres, non-for-profit 
groups that work against hate crimes or 
discrimination, projects aimed at community 
cohesion, organisations that can facilitate 
community dialogue events, and so on.

Page 33



28          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

Case study 
Lancashire County Council

Here, the scrutiny committee asked the 
Executive to review its partnerships and 
to address the fact that some minority 
groups felt marginalised by the Prevent and 
counter-extremism actions.41 It also asked 
for Executive’s account of  actions to ensure 
that counter-extremism measures were 
treated with trust across the area.

As well as identifying individual organisations, 
scrutiny councillors can facilitate the creation 
of  forums, community dialogue events, 
multi-faith discussions and partnerships, 
and various community activist networks, 
using the insight from their community 
representative role. Scrutiny can also both 
support and provide critical friend challenge 
to the type of  work that those partnerships 
or individual organisations are undertaking 
– ensuring that it aligns with the Prevent and 
counter-extremism duties and priorities of  the 
partnership as a whole. This might involve 
scrutiny:

•	 simply facilitating dialogue (using 
scrutiny as a forum to draw in disparate 
organisations and understand how and 
where links arise)

•	 raising awareness of  Prevent and  
counter-extremism (by conducting  
business in public). 

41	  Lancashire County Council (2016). Minutes of the Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 23 September 2016

Case study 
Bristol City Council

Rather than building new partnerships, 
Bristol took the decision to use existing 
Prevent networks and relationships and 
expand their scope to tackle a wider 
range of  extremism threats. In 2015/16, 
Bristol Council invited representatives from 
the voluntary sector, community service 
providers, police, health and education 
sector, and other practitioners to join its 
successful Building the Bridge partnership. 
This enabled participants to raise 
awareness of  community concerns and 
help facilitate the engagement of  young 
people, women and faith communities in 
particular.

Potential questions

•	 Who are the current partners and 
partnerships working together to deliver 
under both the Prevent duty and the 
counter-extremism strategy?

•	 On what work are they engaged, and 
how is it monitored? 

•	 How are counter-extremism and Prevent 
responsibilities shared between all 
participants of  those partnerships? 

•	 Where do gaps in responsibility arise? 
Who is responsible for identifying 
those gaps, and ensuring that lines of  
responsibility and accountability are 
otherwise clear?

•	 Are there specially-appointed 
coordinators (Home Office grant posts) 
to assist with counter-extremism and/or 
Prevent work in the local authority? 

•	 If  a funded post has been offered, but 
turned down by the authority, why has 
this happened?

•	 Are there any other organisations  
that can be involved with Prevent  
and counter-extremism work? 

Page 34



29          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

•	 Is there a common understanding 
among partners about counter-
extremism work?

•	 Does scrutiny believe that the right 
people are being engaged at the right 
time in those partnerships in a way that 
encourages engagement and dialogue? 

4. ‘Mainstreaming’  
counter-extremism  
and Prevent
The priorities of  Prevent and the counter-
extremism strategy need to be reflected in 
how the council and its partners engage in 
their business across the board. 

There are two principal elements to this:

•	 ensuring that council activity (for example, 
the funding of  outside bodies) does not 
inadvertently support extremism

•	 ensuring that the need to tackle extremism 
and prevent people from being drawn 
into terrorism is a feature in the council, 
and the council’s partners, responses 
to a range of  other public policy issues 
(‘mainstreaming’). 

Eliminating inadvertent support 
Both Prevent and the national counter-
extremism strategy emphasise the need 
to counter extremist ideology, to limit the 
dissemination of  such ideology, and to ensure 
that local authorities’ space and/or money is 
not used to promote any kind of  extremism. 

Four of  the more common issues that councils 
may need to review to ensure they do not 
support the propagation of  extremism include: 

•	 responsible booking and hire policies and 
guidance for local venues (ie not providing 
facilities for extremism to be propagated)

•	 responsible funding of  external 
organisations. Local authorities can develop 
guidelines that allow them to withdraw the 

42	 www.walthamforest.gov.uk/node/2336

funding from organisations and charities 
that are inciting violence or are promoting 
extremist views. Local authorities will need 
to review their procedures here with care – 
freedom of  speech is a fundamental right 
and, as we have discussed, interpreting 
extremism is sometimes a matter of  degree

•	 responsible IT filtering that does not allow 
access to extremist-related materials (for 
example in libraries)

•	 other more formal measures to prevent 
or restrict individuals or groups from 
promoting extremism. Scrutiny can ensure 
that the council is using the legal tools at its 
disposal to do this, for example. Licensing 
and planning provisions can also help to 
manage this. The range of  orders and 
injunctions available to councils to limit 
certain activity is significant but needs 
to be overseen and managed properly. 
Scrutiny can speak to the council’s 
monitoring officer to understand more 
about how these tools can be used. 

Case study 
London Borough of  Waltham 
Forest 

As part of  its work to disrupt extremist 
activity, the London Borough of  Waltham 
Forest developed a community premises 
protocol42 that supports community venues 
with their hall hire procedures, to help 
prevent venues being used by extremists. 
The protocol sets out a four-stage process 
to ensure that hiring processes are safe 
and managed accordingly, to safeguard 
premises, staff  and residents, and ensure 
that publicly owned venues and resources 
do not provide a platform for extremists.

Mainstreaming
The council and its partners will be mindful 
of  the need to mainstream an awareness of  
extremism, and the risks of  its propagation, 
across their work. There will be areas (the 
agreement of  service level agreements for 
the delivery of  children’s services, or services 

Page 35

http://www.walthamforest.gov.uk/node/2336
https://www.walthamforest.gov.uk/node/2336
https://www.walthamforest.gov.uk/node/2336


30          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

for vulnerable adults, for example) where an 
awareness of  extremism and radicalisation 
will form an important part of  service design. 

There are many formal and informal spaces 
where work may intersect. Rather than 
covering those intersections in detail or 
attempting to provide a broad-brush overview 
of  the issue, this section will focus on one 
area where Prevent and counter-extremism 
activity is likely to be particularly important, 
if  not necessarily the overriding focus. That 
area is safeguarding. We will also look in 
more depth at the use of  training to help 
officers across the council, and partners, to 
understand their responsibilities, even where 
their primary duties might not relate  
to extremism. 

Safeguarding
Children and young adults are especially 
prone to radicalisation. There is a special 
need to ensure that safeguarding policies 
incorporate a recognition of  the risks of  
extremism and radicalisation, and that 
scrutiny work on this issue also involves 
consideration of  these threats. Some of  this 
work will involve engaging with the principles 
and requirements of  Channel, the part of  
Prevent which attempts to divert people 
(including young people) away from terrorism. 
However, much of  it is more likely to focus on 
extremism in its broader sense.

In recent years there have been reports that 
certain schools or supplementary education 
settings might be introducing extremist views 
to pupils and encouraging segregation. 
Scrutiny councillors will need the confidence 
that local authorities and partner agencies 
have put in place multi-agency policies 
and plans to help tackle this activity – or to 
mitigate the risk of  it occurring in the first 
place. This might include ensuring that 
complaint and whistleblowing data is both 
accurate and available – again, something 
where scrutiny can provide oversight. 

On safeguarding in particular it is important 
to bear in mind that councils now have limited 
powers to oversee the work of  schools in their 

43	 Sheffield City Council (2016). Children, Young People & Family Support Scrutiny Committee: Prevent Task Group Report 

area – and hence scrutiny will need to work to 
ensure that those with whom it wants to speak 
about this issue understand the purpose of  
scrutiny’s work. This is an issue which goes to 
the heart of  ‘mainstreaming’ –  it is not purely 
an issue of  compulsion, but more one of  
building relationships with multiple partners 
and partnerships, that will include schools 
and governing bodies. This builds on some of  
the themes discussed in the section above on 
developing partnerships. 

Case study  
Sheffield City Council  
Prevent Task Group 

Sheffield City Council has established a 
specialised Prevent Task Group under 
the Children, Young People and Family 
Support Scrutiny Committee to review 
current practices around embedding 
counter-extremism work.43 The committee 
offered several recommendations including 
regular reviews, improving data collection 
and data-sharing across partnerships, 
and increasing councillors’ participation in 
issues related to safeguarding extremism. 
Similar scrutiny reviews have taken place in 
numerous other councils: Camden, Merton, 
Tower Hamlets, Wolverhampton, Harrow, 
Manchester, Birmingham, among many 
others.

Training 
The Prevent duty statutory guidance identifies 
the importance of  raising awareness 
on extremism-related issues amongst 
professional staff  through formal training and 
requires that areas have a Prevent training 
strategy in place. Training may not need to be 
formally accredited, but members and staff  
will need to have the confidence that it is of  
high quality. Training needs tend to focus on 
frontline staff, who will have direct contact with 
people at risk of  radicalisation – but training is 
also required by managers, particularly where 
services provided to vulnerable children, 
young people and adults are managed 
through risk-based systems which are owned 

Page 36



31          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

and designed by more senior professionals. 
Such systems need to have triggers relating 
to concerns about extremism. As such, a 
large number of  professionals in a variety of  
different organisations – including contractors 
– are likely to require training. This is the 
responsibility of  those organisations, not 
the council  although a coordinator may 
play some part in offering the training and 
ensuring that it is taken up. 

In general, the aim of  this training is to:

•	 help staff  fully understand the definition  
of  extremism 

•	 help recognise the early signs of  
radicalisation

•	 explain which measures and steps should 
be taken if  someone is suspected of  
conducting extremist activities, or is at risk 
of  becoming radicalised. 

Scrutiny can be actively involved in this 
process, particularly in the following capacity: 

•	 assessing what has been done to raise 
awareness of  extremism-related issues in 
the council and among the council partners

•	 ensuring that systems exist across the 
council and its partners to identify gaps in 
knowledge

•	 ensuring that systems exist to identify staff  
that may need training and at appropriate 
levels

•	 ensuring that training needs are adequately 
addressed and that there is a plan for 
making sure all who need training will 
receive it.

44	 London Borough of Tower Hamlets (2016). Scrutiny Review Report: Delivering the Prevent Duty; Promoting Safeguarding in 
Tower Hamlets

Case studies 
Training on counter-extremism

Tower Hamlets 2016 scrutiny report 
put forward a recommendation that all 
commissioned and council grant funded 
organisations undertake mandatory 
counter-extremism and safeguarding 
training to ensure that they understand 
extremism along with their duties and 
responsibilities to counter it.44  
 
Calderdale Council used a creative 
approach to raising awareness on violent 
and non-violent extremism, and as part of  
its Prevent work started conducting training 
for licensed taxi drivers on safeguarding 
issues, Prevent, and spotting early signs of  
radicalisation or extremism. The rationale 
behind this approach was that taxi drivers 
have a wider reach into society and 
communicate with hundreds of  people 
daily, hence their support will assist in 
raising awareness greatly. Calderdale lately 
ensured that prior to receiving a license all 
taxi drivers have to participate in a four-
hour training session. 

Potential questions

•	 Does the local authority have relevant 
hiring and booking procedures that do 
not provide a space for extremist views?

•	 Are there procedures allowing the 
withdrawal of  local authority grants from 
organisations involved in promoting 
extremism? 

•	 Are third sector organisations that 
receive local authority grants aware of  
their counter-extremism and Prevent 
responsibilities (and are their staff  
trained accordingly)? 

Page 37



32          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide

•	 How do the council’s plans to counter 
extremism explicitly dovetail with plans 
for other services, mainstreaming 
counter-extremism and Prevent policy 
across the area?

•	 How are the council and its partners 
working together to ensure that this 
mainstreaming happens? How is 
training made a part of  this?

•	 Has Ofsted/Estyn or another inspection 
mechanism raised a threat of  
radicalisation in schools?

•	 Are there relevant procedures and 
processes to ensure safeguarding 
partners and school governors can 
trace early signs of  extremism in 
schools?

•	 Do school governors and teachers 
have enough training to determine 
the early signs of  radicalisation, and 
are they aware of  the Channel referral 
programme? 

•	 Is there a need for procedures ensuring 
that all grant-funded organisations 
working with children should undertake 
safeguarding training?

•	 Do all safeguarding partners and 
relevant committees consider extremism 
and radicalisation threats regularly? 

•	 Which safeguarding methods against 
violent and non-violent extremism and 
radicalisation are currently used in the 
council? Should these methods be 
expanded?

•	 How is scrutiny working with the 
governance systems for other key 
partners (for example, school governing 
bodies, police and crime panels) to 
ensure that its own work  
is mainstreamed?

Page 38



33          Scrutiny, counter-extremism and the Prevent duty – a guide
Page 39



Page 40



Local Government Association 
18 Smith Square 
London SW1P 3HZ

Telephone 020 7664 3000 
Email info@local.gov.uk 
www.local.gov.uk

For a copy in Braille, larger print or audio,  
please contact us on 020 7664 3000. 
We consider requests on an individual basis. 
 
REF 27.4

© Local Government Association, August 2020

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date 

Marianne Hesketh, Corporate 
Director Communities 

Overview & Scrutiny 1 March 2021 

 

Council Business Plan – 3rd Quarter Performance Statement 2020/21 

October - December 2020 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 

The dashboard style report (attached) gives a quick reference to quarterly 
progress against the council’s business plan projects and measures, along 
with commentary where issues have been identified.  
 

2. Project Updates 
 

 2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
2.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There are now 18 Business Plan projects split between the three ambitions 
within the Business Plan – Economy, People and Place.  
 
Whilst the majority of projects are on track, there are 7 showing Amber with 
minor issues and one showing Red with major issues. 
 
A summary of those with minor issues (Amber) are shown below: 
 

 Delivery of the implementation plan for Hillhouse Technology 
Enterprise Zone is behind schedule – Genecon are reviewing base 
line figures due to the impact of Covid and the loss of Vinnolit. These 
figures are expected January 2021 and Genecon are to attend the 
Hillhouse Board meeting on 15 January 2021 to give an update.  

 Collaboration with partners to develop strategic economic plans 
such as the Greater Lancashire Plan – Meetings are ongoing with 
Blackpool & Fylde Economic Development Teams. The agreed focal 
point for Wyre’s local economic strategy is to concentrate on our four 
town centres as central hubs (Cleveleys, Poulton, Garstang and 
Fleetwood) across eight themes including Digital, Economy, Health 
and Wellbeing. Once each town centre has an agreed plan across 
these themes this will naturally lead to an Economic Strategy for 
Wyre with the Local Plan land availability also considered.  

 Develop the Fleetwood Masterplan and facilitate external 
funding opportunities to support the future options to transform 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



Fleetwood over the next 20 years – the announcement was 
received from Future High Streets Fund on 26/12/2020 that our bid 
was unsuccessful with a clarification meeting to take place 
08/01/2021 with MHCLG to understand reasons behind the decision. 
Upon feedback, re-evaluation will take place in preparation for the 
submission of Levelling Up Fund for Fleetwood. Regeneration 
Framework Consultation is also expected to take place Spring 2021. 
With regards to Fleetwood Heritage Action Zone -  Purcells 
Architecture has been appointed as framework consultants for 
property owners to use to develop applications, design and oversee 
works. Visioning Lab completed their research and initial 
consultation activities, which will inform recommendations about 
trails and walking routes in the town centre. Fleetwood Museum 
have submitted an application on behalf of the Fleetwood Art 
Partnership for a Historic England Cultural Programme grant. 

 Explore the feasibility of a Fylde coast tramway/rail loop – whilst 
discussions are ongoing there is no update for this quarter. 

 Review of the Local Plan – Government have stated a White Paper 
response is expected from them in Spring 2021. Recent 
correspondence has been received from MHCLG and in the light of 
this the partial review will restart over the next quarter.  

 The planning application has been submitted for phase 1 of the 
Wyre Beach Management Scheme with contract documents and 
contract price being prepared.  A new programme has been 
submitted to the Environment Agency with completion date in 
December 2021 for phase 1.  Phase 2 environmental studies are 
progressing and applications to Marine Management Organisation 
for Site Investigation works is in consultation phase.  

 Implement initiatives and promote activity to help achieve a 
cleaner, greener Wyre - Face to Face events / activities have been 
limited due to covid restrictions.  However there is continued support 
to beach cleaning groups and lone litter picking – in accordance with 
covid restrictions; health walks and health rides took place (covid 
secure) with restricted number; and covid safe litter pick and talk with 
30 children from Flakefleet school took place. We have been 
shortlisted for the Keep Britain Tidy ‘Community Engagement Award’ 
for the alley project on Rhyl Street in Fleetwood, the video has been 
launched on social media, encouraging residents to ‘Love Where 
You Live’ and nominate their own alleys for us to support them with 
their transformation. This video has also been launched onto 
YouTube. Natural flood management volunteer days have also been 
undertaken in partnership with River Wyre Trust and Wyre 
volunteers to help with the sustainable management of the Wyre 
catchment. 

 
 2.2.2 Unfortunately, the new council website was due to go live at the end of 

October but has been delayed due to supplier issues including resourcing 
challenges. This has delayed the launch of the next phase of the digital 
Wyre strategy, which aims to ensure customers have easy access to our 
services and that we embrace the opportunities new technologies bring. 

Page 44



There has been little progress with this over quarter 3 due to similar issues. 
It is hoped that the new website will be launched in the summer.  
 

   
3. Performance Updates 

 
 3.1 

 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
3.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In total there are 23 measures to be reported on however some of these 
do not have data available as they are either annual or bi-annual collection 
so have not been included.  
 
Of the 16 Measures included on the report, 7 have a Green status, 2 Amber 
and 7 Red.  
 
Further information regarding those showing as Amber are set out below. 
 
 Town centre vacancy rates - Whilst rates are achieving against 

target in Fleetwood and Garstang they have increased in Cleveleys, 
Thornton and Poulton that has brought the overall percentage rate to 
within 10% of achieving target. 

 Money raised for good causes by the Wyre community lottery - 
there has been a reduction in promotion of the Community Lottery 
over recent months due to the pandemic but despite this we are only 
a little under target. 

 
 3.2.2 Further information regarding those showing as Red are set out below. 

 
 Take up of employment Land – There has been a decline in new 

employment land completions since 2019/20 monitoring period.  The 
Wyre Local Plan was adopted in February 2019 and allocated 
approximately 32.24 hectares of land for employment development.  
Many of the allocated sites are strategic mixed use allocations that 
require a masterplan to be prepared and approved prior to securing 
planning permission.  

 % growth in business rate base – This is dependent on new 
business being set up in new buildings. It should be noted that there 
is due to be a reduction of -6.91% owing to the former Vinnolit site 
being demolished.  

 Out of work benefit claimant count – The considerable increase 
will be largely driven by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 Positive footprints programme – the impact of the pandemic has 
meant the need to do this work differently and virtually so that has 
made it more difficult for the schools to take part in the programme. 

 Number of leisure centre visits – the YMCA has been impacted by 
lockdown closures. 

 Number of volunteer hours – the volunteer hours have taken a 
huge hit with many of our volunteers self-isolating or are just not 
wishing to volunteer during this unprecedented time. We are still 
supporting the volunteers wishing to carry on volunteering as it is 
important for their health and wellbeing. 

Page 45



 Number of trees planted - There has been a delay due the 
lockdown in receiving funding and tree stock from the woodland 
trust.  

 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance There are no financial implications 

Legal There are no legal implications 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  ICT x 

health and safety x  

 
Processing Personal Data 

 
If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in personal data being 
processed, a privacy impact assessment (PIA) will have been completed and signed 
off by the council’s Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken (as required 
by the General Data Protection Regulations 2018). 
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Marianne Hesketh 01253 887350 
marianne.hesketh@wyre.gov.

uk 
1 March 2021 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

   

 
 
List of appendices 
 
N/A 
 

Page 46

mailto:marianne.hesketh@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:marianne.hesketh@wyre.gov.uk


 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 
BUSINESS PLAN 

                  2020-2021 QUARTER 3 

 

 Key Measures 
 

 
Improving or in line with expectations 

 

No significant change or comparable 
data unavailable 

 
Worsening 

 

 

   
   

Key Projects 
 

 
On schedule/target;      

 
Minor issues 

                
Major issues/Not Started 

    

     
 COMMENTS 

AND ISSUES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Projects  
 
Deliver the implementation plan for Hillhouse 
Technology Enterprise Zone  

 
 

 

Collaborate with partners to develop strategic economic 
plans such as the Greater Lancashire Plan 
 

 

Work with our partners to increase access for residents 
and businesses to high speed internet and Wi-Fi wherever 
possible 

 

 

Develop the Fleetwood Masterplan and facilitate external 
funding opportunities to support the future options to 
transform Fleetwood over the next 20 years 

 

Explore the feasibility of a Fylde coast tramway/rail loop 
 

Explore investment and development opportunities for 
our town centres and key council assets 
 

 

  

  

Measures 
 

 

Take up of employment land 
 

Number of businesses supported 
 

% growth in business rate base at the Enterprise Zone 
 

 

Town centre vacancy rates  
 

Out of work benefit claimant count 
 

% of fledgling businesses surviving - 18 months 
 

 
Projects 
 
Review the Wyre local plan 2011-2031 

 
 

 
 
 

Deliver the Wyre Beach Management Scheme 
 

Facilitate and support the improvement and use of parks 
and open spaces  

Implement initiatives and promote activity to help achieve 
a cleaner, greener Wyre  

Ensure the Wyre community lottery is well utilised to 
support good causes  

Develop and deliver action plans to reduce the effect of 
climate change on our borough  

Support our residents to reduce waste and increase reuse 
and recycling  

  
  
  

Measures  

Number of people attending outdoor activities 
 

Money raised for good causes by the Wyre community 
lottery  

Reduction in council carbon emissions 
 

Number of public electric charging points 
 

Number of trees planted 
 

  

 
Projects 

Deliver a programme of work to promote healthy choices 
and healthier lifestyles to keep people well 

 
 

 
 
 

Maximise funding opportunities and deliver initiatives to 
support older people and people with disabilities to 
maintain independence 

 

Work with partners to improve the aspirations and 
resilience of our young people through programmes such 
as positive footprints  

 

Develop a programme of work that improves the 
sustainability and resilience of our communities  

Launch the next phase of the digital Wyre strategy 
ensuring customers have easy access to our services and 
that we embrace the opportunities new technologies 
bring 

 

  
  

Measures  

% of e-contacts as a % of total contacts 
 

Number of people helped to remain independent at home 
 

Number of hours of career led learning delivered in Wyre 
through the positive footprints programme  

Number of leisure centre visits 
 

Number of volunteer hours 
 

  

Take up of employment 
Land – There has been a 
decline in new employment 
land completions since 
2019/20 monitoring period.  
The Wyre Local Plan was 
adopted in February 2019 
and allocated approximately 
32.24 hectares of land for 
employment development.  
Many of the allocated sites 
are strategic mixed use 
allocations that require a 
masterplan to be prepared 
and approved prior to 
securing planning 
permission. 
% growth in business rate 
base – This is dependent on 
new business being set up in 
new buildings. It should be 
noted that there is due to be 
a reduction of -6.91% owing 
to the former Vinnolit site 
being demolished. 
Out of work benefit 
claimant count – The 

considerable increase will be 
largely driven by the COVID-
19 pandemic. 
Positive footprints 
programme – the impact of 
the pandemic has meant the 
need to do this work 
differently and virtually so 
that has made it more difficult 
for the schools to take part in 
the programme 
Number of leisure centre 
visits – the YMCA has been 
impacted by lockdown 
closures. 
Number of volunteer hours 
– the volunteer hours have 
taken a huge hit with many of 
our volunteers self-isolating 
are just not wishing to 
volunteer during this 
unprecedented time. 
We are still supporting the 
volunteers wishing to carry on 
volunteering as it is important 
for their health and wellbeing. 
Number of trees planted - 
There has been a delay due 
the lockdown in 
receiving  funding and tree 
stock from the woodland 
trust.  

 

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Economy Projects

Ref and Title Project Manager Q1, April - June 2020 Q2, July - September 2020 Q3, October - Dec 2020 Q4, January - March 2021

PE1 - Status Amber Amber

Deliver the 

implementation plan for 

Hillhouse Technology 

Enterprise Zone

No update Meeting held with Genecon to consider updates necessary.  

Draft report expected early November 2020 for review by 

officers.

Genecon reviewing base line figures due to impact 

of Covid and loss of Vinnolit. Base line figures 

expected January 2021. Genecon to attend the 

Hillhouse Board Meeting on 15 Jan 2021 to give 

update.

PE2 - Status Amber Amber

Collaborate with 

partners to develop 

strategic economic plans 

such as the Greater 

Lancashire Plan

No update Established meeting with Blackpool & Fylde Council Economic 

Development Teams to explore each Council's approach within 

the Fylde Coast.  Greater Lancashire Plan currently on hold.

Meetings ongoing with Blackpool & Fylde ED 

Teams. Agreed focal point for Wyre's local 

economic strategy to concentrate on our four town 

centres as central hubs (Cleveleys, Poulton, 

Garstang and Fleetwood) across eight themes, 

including Digital, Economy, Health & Wellbeing etc. 

Once each town centre has agreed plan across 

these themes, this will naturally lead to an 

Economic Strategy for Wyre, with the Local Plan 

land availability also considered.

PE3 - Status Green Green Green

Work with our partners 

to increase access for 

residents and businesses 

to high speed internet 

and Wi-Fi wherever 

possible

Signoff on network refresh project which will 

improve connectivity for Council assets and provide 

greater flexibility of services we can offer at 

satellite sites

Joined the CNI fibre co-operative which opens up PIA fibre ducts

Talking to Blackpool and Lancaster Council about creating a NW 

coast fibre network

Continued work speaking to fibre providers and 

working with TNP to produce a fibre plan with 

DCMS funding

Speaking to additional fibre providers who provide 

"social housing" internet at affordable prices

Blackpool Transport are rolling out wifi at tram 

stops

PE4 - Status Green Green Amber

Steve Smith / 

Andrea Wallace

Andrea Wallace / 

Mark Fenton

Steve Simpson

Andrea Wallace

BusinessPlan2020_Economy, Economy Projects 18/02/2021, 18:51

P
age 51



Develop the Fleetwood 

Masterplan and facilitate 

external funding 

opportunities to support 

the future options to 

transform Fleetwood 

over the next 20 years

Historic England awarded a £1.7m grant for the 

Fleetwood Heritage Action Zone which will fund a 

four-year programme of physical improvements, 

community engagement and cultural activities led 

by the council.

Fleetwood Regeneration Framework Consultation - Phase 2 

postponed until Spring 2021 due to C-19 distancing measures.                    

FHSF - Further clarification exercise currently being undertaken 

in support of the Business Case submission. A decision on our 

£22m bid is expected mid to late November. 

Fleetwood Heritage Action Zone: currently working with 6 

property owners who have expressed interest in applying for 

grant support. Received a 'Pilot Activity Grant' of £10,000 from 

Historic England to deliver a project in partnership with 

Fleetwood Museum which will advise on trails and walking 

routes in the town centre.

Announcement received from Future High Streets 

Fund on 26/12/2020 that our bid was unsuccessful. 

Clarification meeting to take place 08/01/2021 with 

MHCLG to understand reasons behind decision. 

Upon feedback, re-evaluation to take place in 

preparation for submission of Levelling Up Fund for 

Fleetwood. Regeneration Framework Consultation 

expected to take place Spring 2021. 

Fleetwood Heritage Action Zone: Purcells 

Architecture appointed as framework consultants 

for property owners to use to develop applications, 

design and oversee works. Visioning Lab completed 

their research and initial consultation activities - 

which will inform recommendations about trails 

and walking routes in the town centre. Fleetwood 

Museum submitted application on behalf of the 

Fleetwood Art Partnership for a Historic England 

Cultural Programme grant.

PE5 - Status Amber Amber

Explore the feasibility of 

a Fylde coast 

tramway/rail loop

Steve Smith

A detailed study is part of the ongoing funding bid 

to Government under the Future High Street Fund.

Following Fylde Council's decision not to include the tram loop 

within their FHSF submission, it was agreed that this also be 

removed from Blackpool and Wyre bids.  After further 

clarification, it didn't meet the criteria so it has been agreed that 

other funding pots will be explored instead.  A joint letter to be 

prepared for Grant Shapps to reiterate the importance of this 

scheme for the Fylde Coast.  LCC are progressing the study for 

the Fleetwood to Poulton line as part of the £100,000 funding 

that was approved.

Discussions ongoing but no update for this quarter.

PE6 - Status Green Green Green

Explore investment and 

development 

opportunities for our 

town centres and key 

council assets

Coastal Community Fund 5 (CCF) capital works at 

Fleetwood Market continued on site. Studios 

nearing completion  and Studio Co-ordinator 

appointed. Services and groundwork complete for 

the outdoor market and performance area with the 

kiosks delivered 29 May.  

CCF5: Fleetwood Market advertising for tenants for the kiosks 

and Market House Studios have invited applications for studio 

space. 

CCF5: 4 kiosks and 4 Market House Studio spaces 

occupied. Supplier of the digital signs appointed. 

Planning permission granted for 2 canopies.    

Andrea Wallace / 

Mark Fenton

Andrea Wallace / 

Mark Fenton

BusinessPlan2020_Economy, Economy Projects 18/02/2021, 18:51

P
age 52



Economy Measures Commentary

Reportee Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative

ME1 Take up of employment land Fiona Riley 0.56 0.1 0.1 0.56 0 0.1 0.56 0 0.1

There has been a decline in new employment land completions since 2019/20 

monitoring period.  The Wyre Local Plan was adopted in February 2019 and 

allocated approximately 32.24 hectares of land for employment development.  

Many of the allocated sites are strategic mixed use allocations that require a 

masterplan to be prepared and approved prior to securing planning 

permission.

ME2 Number of businesses supported Andrea Wallace 2000 2360 2360 1000 1180 1180 1020 1100 1100 1020

ME3 % growth in business rate base at the Enterprise Zone Andrew Robinson 0.08% 0.00% 0.00% 0.08% 0.00% 0.00% 0.08% 0.00% 0.00%

This is dependent on new business being set up in new buildings. It should be 

noted that there is due to be a reduction of -6.91% owing to the former Vinnolit 

site being demolished.

ME4 Town centre vacancy rates 8.97% 8.97% 8.97% 9.25% 8.97% 9.81%

* Fleetwood 15.63% 15.63% 15.63% 14.51% 14.51% 14.51%

* Cleveleys 8.86% 8.86% 8.86% 8.59% 8.59% 9.97%

* Thornton 5.66% 5.66% 5.66% 10.38% 5.66% 10.38%

* Poulton 5.92% 5.92% 5.92% 7.02% 5.92% 8.82%

* Garstang 3.85% 3.85% 3.85% 3.85% 3.85% 3.85%

ME5 Out of work benefit claimant count Human Resources 1710 3850 1710 3635

The considerable increase will be largely driven by the COVID-19 pandemic.

ME6 Visitor numbers to the borough Alexandra  Holt Data available a year in arrears 2019 data due imminently

ME7 % of fledgling businesses surviving - 18 months Andrea Wallace 50% 50.00% 50% 51% 51.00% 51% 40% 40.00% 40

Key

Achieving/Exceeding target

Within 10% of achieving target

Below target (more than 10%)

Q4, January - March 2021Q3, October - Dec 2020Q2, July - September 2020Q1, April - June 2020

Andrea Wallace

BusinessPlan2020_Economy, Economy Measures 18/02/2021, 18:52

P
age 53

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157102/report.aspx


T
his page is intentionally left blank



People Projects
Project Manager Q1, April - June 2020 Q2, July - September 2020 Q3, October - Dec 2020 Q4, January - March 2021

PPE1 - Status Green Green Green

Deliver a programme of 

work to promote healthy 

choices and healthier 

lifestyles to keep people 

well

We have been working closely with our partners - 

Lancashire County Council 's Public Health Team 

and Active Lancashire to start the  procurement 

process for an adult weight management 

programme. This programme will run for three 

years. We have worked with Active Lancashire to 

access £6K of it's Tackling Inequalities Fund. 

Fleetwood Town Community Trust will be 

delivering an adult and family physical activity 

programme using the Tackling Inequalities funding. 

We continue to work closely with KKP, (Leisure 

Consultants) and Fylde Coast YMCA on the phased 

re-opening of the Leisure Centres. We have 

supported a group of Fleetwood residents to set up 

a health and wellbeing trail  on the Fleetwood 

coastline.

The procurement process has been completed for 

the Adult Weight Management programme and we 

are hoping to launch in the next quarter with our 

preferred supplier. We have been working closely 

with Fleetwood Town Community Trust (FTCT) to 

promote their adult physical activity programme 

and the summer programme of TRY Sport 

activities. Both programmes have run successfully 

over this difficult period. The Health Rides have 

started back up successfully. The four Leisure 

Centres re-opened their gym and classes during 

this quarter, we continue to support the YMCA 

with KKP to re-open all of their  facilities when we 

are able to do so. We supported  the Beach 

Wheelchair project, who took over the Kite 

Building,, Fleetwood and started providing 

wheelchairs for local disabled people to access the 

beach. The feedback has been excellent so far.

We have been working with Slimming World on 

mobilising the new weight management contract, 

which is due to launch in the next quarter. The 

service will provide approx. 700 people support to 

lose weight. The health rides and health walks 

programme continued to operate successfully in 

October and December. We have continued to 

work with the YMCA on the re-mobilisation of their 

centres, lobbying government and bidding for 

funding to Sport England's National Leisure 

recovery fund. We have begun to look at our long 

term leisure centre strategy with KKP  using Sport 

England's Strategic Outcomes Planning framework. 

We have also been supporting the Fleetwood 

Wellbeing way group with their health and 

wellbeing trail.

PPE2 - Status Green Green Green

Mark Broadhurst 

Dave McArthur

Mark Broadhurst  

Carol Southern

BusinessPlan2020_People, People Projects 18/02/2021, 18:56

P
age 55



Maximise funding 

opportunities and 

deliver initiatives to 

support older people 

and people with 

disabilities to maintain 

independence

DFGs and Minor Aids and Adaptations: We have 

helped 157 people to remain independent at home 

via the completion of 29 Disabled Facilities Grants 

and 128 minor aids and adaptations . C&R 

Attendance Allowance: Due to COVID 19, we were 

only able to start to complete Attendance 

Allowance forms from June 2020. Between April 

and June 2020 we have completed: 19 Attendance 

Allowance forms, 1 PIP form and 1 DLA form. So 

far, we have heard back from 5 successful clients 

generating over £21,000 annually. Home Energy 

Efficiency Installations via CHiL (Cosy Homes in 

Lancashire) - Between 1 April and 30 June a further 

3 boilers have been replaced under CHiL. Total 

figures now stand at 49 measures installed (27 

boilers, 2 lofts insulated, 17 homes have had first 

time central heating installed and 3 emergency 

boilers were installed). 

DFGs and Minor Aids and Adaptations: We have 

helped 126 people to remain independent at home 

via the completion of 15 Disabled Facilities Grants 

and 111 minor aids and adaptations. The delivery 

of both minor and major adaptations was 

significantly affected by COVID 19. C&R 

Attendance Allowance: Between July and 

September we have completed: 38 Attendance 

Allowance forms, 5 PIP forms and 2 DLA forms. So 

far this year this has generated over £162,000 

additional annual income for service users. Home 

Energy Efficiency Installations via CHiL (Cosy 

Homes in Lancashire) - Between 1 July and 30 

September a further 6 boilers have been replaced 

under CHiL and 4 boilers serviced using affordable 

warmth funding ahead of the winter.

DFGs and Minor Aids and Adaptations: We have 

helped 173 people to remain independent at home 

via the completion of 60 Disabled Facilities Grants 

and 113 minor aids and adaptations. The relaxation 

of COVID 19 restrictions has helped catch up on 

delivery of both minor and major adaptations, but 

the third lockdown will affect delivery particularly 

to the extremely clinically vulnerable group. C&R 

Attendance Allowance: Between July and 

September we have completed: 26 Attendance 

Allowance forms, and 3 PIP forms. So far this year 

this has generated nearly £290,000 additional 

annual income for service users, plus 22 cases still 

awaiting outcomes. in addition to this there were 

226 handyperson jobs completed in quarter 3. 

Home Energy Efficiency Installations via CHiL (Cosy 

Homes in Lancashire) - Between 1 October and 31 

December a further 5 boiler services/repairs and 5 

window/roof repairs were completed using 

affordable warmth funding. There also 13 jobs 

currently ongoing.

PPE3 - Status Green Green Green

Work with partners to 

improve the aspirations 

and resilience of our 

young people through 

programmes such as 

positive footprints

Two out of the five schools that Wyre funded have 

completed their intended delivery with Positive 

Footprints with Year 6 pupils. The other three 

primary schools and a cohort of Year 5 pupils at 

one of the other schools expect to complete the 

programme by December 2020. 50 children have 

completed the programme with 24 hours of 

careers-led learning and eight businesses engaged.

Delivery was unable to take place during July and 

August due to the school holidays. The programme 

will re-start in October as September wasn't the 

best time to re-start due to all the Covid related 

issues that schools have had to deal with. There is 

expected delivery of the programme between 

October - December in 3 out of 5 of the primary 

schools. 

Strong progress has been made towards the 

completion of the programme by schools faced 

with the challenges presented by the pandemic. 

Key developments include the 5 schools reporting 

32 hours of careers-led learning delivered during 

the reporting period and 3 out of the 5 schools 

having nearly completed the programme. 86 

children have been impacted by the programme.

PPE4 - Status Green Green Green

Carol Southern

Mark Broadhurst 

Dave McArthur

Mark Broadhurst 

Carol Southern

BusinessPlan2020_People, People Projects 18/02/2021, 18:56

P
age 56



Develop a programme of 

work that improves the 

sustainability and 

resilience of our 

communities

Through our Covid Community Hub work - Wyre 

Together, we have built on and further developed 

our work with our communities across Wyre. This 

involved close partnership working with the 

Garstang Volunteer Force, Poulton CAN, Warren 

Manor Day Centre and Fleetwood Together. These 

partnerships alongside other closer ties with 

religious organisations have and will continue to 

help us work together to better support the needs 

of our residents. We are writing a short report to 

identify learning and areas of need to focus on as a 

team. Our programme of Health and Wellbeing 

activities were necessarily on hold during this 

quarter.

Work has started to build on the learning from the 

Community Hub work which identified areas such 

as lack of IT skills with older people, social 

isolation, the lack of a co-ordinated community 

response in Cleveleys and Over Wyre areas as key 

priorities for us as a team. We have been meeting 

up and planning our work with the new social 

prescribers  to meet local community needs and 

discussing how we can jointly help to tackle the 

above priority areas. 

We have been working closely with the social 

prescribers to discuss how we can enable referrals 

from the four primary care network's social 

prescribers into our community activities. We have 

also been discussing the role out of the data access 

project with the social prescribers from Torrentum 

PCN when we are able to do so. We re-launched 

our Wyre Community hub in October and are once 

again supporting local residents at this most 

difficult time with essential supplies and support.

PPE5 - Status Amber Red Red

Launch the next phase of 

the digital Wyre strategy 

ensuring customers have 

easy access to our 

services and that we 

embrace the 

opportunities new 

technologies bring

On going work being completed to complete the 

forms needed.

Awaiting payment system integration

Unfortunately the new council website was due to 

go live at the end of October but has been delayed 

due to supplier issues including resourcing 

challenges.

All forms will be completed and available when the 

website is launched which will now be in 2021

Unfortunately there has been little progress with 

the new council website over this quarter and the 

same delays apply from the previous quarter.  It is 

hoped that the new website will be launched in the 

summer.

Steve Simpson

Mark Broadhurst 

Carol Southern

BusinessPlan2020_People, People Projects 18/02/2021, 18:56

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



People Measures Commentary

Reportee Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative

MPE1 % of e-contacts as a % of total contacts Pete Mason 55% 74.40% 55% 65.20% 55.00% 66.61%

MPE2
Number of people helped to remain independent at 

home
Dave McArthur 150 157 157 150 126 283 150 173 456 150

MPE3 % of physically active adults Carol Southern 59.70%

MPE4
Number of hours of career led learning delivered in Wyre 

through the positive footprints programme
Carol Southern 15 24 24 30 24 24 45 32 32 60

the impact of the pandemic has meant the need to do this work 

differently and virtually so that has made it more difficult for the 

schools to take part in the programme

MPE5 Number of leisure centre visits Carol Southern Nil - Covid 225000 52,043 52,043 55,448 107,491

the YMCA has been impacted by lockdown closures.

MPE6 Number of volunteer hours Simon Swindells 9,298 1,868 1,868 9,102 3,556 5,424 7,941 3,414 8,838

the volunteer hours have taken a huge hit with many of our 

volunteers self-isolating are just not wishing to volunteer during this 

unprecedented time. We are still supporting the volunteers wishing to 

carry on volunteering as it is important for their health and wellbeing.

MPE7
% of resident population who consider themselves to be 

in good health
Carol Southern N/A

Life in Wyre Survey not completed this year due to COVID

Key

Achieving/Exceeding target

Within 10% of achieving target

Below target (more than 10%)

Targets set Nationally

MPE1

MPE3

MPE4

MPE5

MPE7

MPE8

Q1, April - June 2020 Q2, July - September 2020 Q3, October - Dec 2020 Q4, January - March 2021

BusinessPlan2020_People, People Measures 18/02/2021, 18:55

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Place Projects
Project Manager Q1, April - June 2020 Q2, July - September 2020 Q3, October - Dec 2020 Q4, January - March 2021

PPL1 - Status Amber Amber

Review the Wyre local 

plan 2011-2031

No update this quarter Work on the Partial Review of the Local Plan 

formally remains ongoing. However, owing to the 

significant changes to the planning system 

proposed by Government in the recent White 

Paper (Planning for the Future) and after 

consultation with the Planning Policy Working 

Group (PPWG) a pause has been agreed on the 

commissioning of new research or evidence 

gathering as the risk of this being out-of-date is 

currently too high. This ‘pause’ will be kept under 

review in consultation with the PPWG.

Government have stated a White Paper response is 

expected from them in Spring 2021.  Recent 

correspondence has been received from MHCLG 

and in the light of this the partial review will 

restart over the next quarter.

PPL2 - Status Amber Amber

Deliver the Wyre Beach 

Management Scheme

Contractor Balfour Beatty appointed to undertake pre contract and design 

works following completion of Phase 1 feasibility study.  Environmental 

impact studies required for Phase 1 planning commenced including 

development of site compound on Rossall school land. Phase 2 feasibility 

study being developed by Contractor.

Site investigation works including trial holes and 

material testing undertaken for phase 1.  Detail 

design commenced. Phase 2 feasibility report 

submitted by Contractor.  Environmental studies 

required for phase 2 commenced. Issues raised by 

Rossall school for the use of their land, alternative 

site compound locations sought. Application made 

to MMO for Phase 2 site investigation works and 

Environmentally Screening and Scoping.

Planning application submitted for phase 1.  

Contract documents and contract price being 

prepared.  New programme submitted to EA with 

completion date in December 2021 for phase 1.  

Phase 2 environmental studies progressing, 

applications to MMO for Site Investigation works in 

consultation phase.

PPL3 - Status Green Green Green

Steve Smith

Carl Green

Ruth Hunter

BusinessPlan2020_Place, Place Projects 18/02/2021, 18:57

P
age 61



Facilitate and support 

the improvement and 

use of parks and open 

spaces

Preesall improvements - we have some section 106 money and an LEF grant 

totally £68K,  a new masterplan is currently being drawn up by Relandscapes 

on our behalf. Work is programmed to start on site in September.

We have supported the Friends of Memorial Park with an external funding bid 

and have received notification of success and jointly secured  agrant of 

£29,500 towards the plans for play area improvements. The friends group will 

contribute £4,212 and the Council £2,788.  The Mount project continues to be 

on plan for completion early autumn.  

Officers across the council are working together with the Police to address 

issues of ASB at WECP 

An award of external funding for phase 2 footpath works on King Georges 

playing field in Thornton was confirmed. Thornton Action Group working in 

partnership with Wyre Council have been awarded funding from the Walney 

Extension Fund of £16,220 and along with additional funding from Wyre 

Council the money will fund the extension of the surfaced footpath around 

the playing field. A contractor has been appointed for an imminent start on 

site.

The project at Jubilee Gardens has been delayed slightly, quotations still being 

assessed - update Qtr 2.

Green Flag status secured for parks.  

Planting at the Mary Hope Garden, Mount 

completed to assist with the overall renovation 

scheme.

The teams supported the scaled back 

Remembrance Services.  Lancashire Living Seas - 

Coastal Improvement and Interpretation Project 

started with LWT officer in post 1 Day a week 

(Funded by LEF grant) working with council to 

develop marine coastal trail for public.   Dynamic 

Dunescapes -  NE officers working with the council 

to develop a plan for management of invasive 

species on the dunes and to  provide dune 

interpretation . On-line talk delivered by NE to 

Wyre volunteers.  Wyre Volunteers working on 

numerous sites to undertake access and 

conservation works including  management of 

vegetation to open up ground for meadows,  

footpath improvements to Scorton Millennium 

Way working with the local Parish Council,  

woodland management in woodland 

compartments on parks, improvement to the 

outdoor classroom at the Wyre Estuary Country 

Park to enable it to be used for environmental 

education activities and outdoor meetings, 

continued support for the interpretation of the 

Fleetwood Wellbeing Way.

PPL4 - Status Green Amber

Implement initiatives 

and promote activity to 

help achieve a cleaner, 

greener Wyre

Activities suspended due to covid.

Throughout continued positive engagement on social media to take waste 

home, use licenced waste companies, don’t fly tip etc.

• Dynamic Dunescapes Project has started with Natural England and Wildlife 

Trust officers visiting on site to create site interpretation and plan for the 

conservation works on the Fleetwood Dunes ( part of a national HLF 

Dunescapes project with Wildlife Trusts and Natural England)

• Controlled and eradicated Invasive species Giant Hog Weed from a number 

sites around Wyre

• Lancashire Living Seas Engagement Officer 

working with the ranger team to develop online 

interpretation and engagement about the Wyre 

coast as a part of this Fylde Coast initiative.

Bin for Green Seas launched in partnership with 

Rotary and District 

Rhyll Street, Fleetwood, Love my alley project 

commenced with local support

Supported the national spring clean initiative with 

a number of covid safe litter picks with Wyre in 

Bloom groups

• Volunteer beach cleaners (from existing beach 

care groups) working in lone working (pairs) 

following new guidance are helping to care for 

Wyre beaches in partnership with LmB on a weekly 

basis usually 4 times a week

•Face to Face events / activities limited due to 

covid restrictions.  Continued to support beach 

cleaning groups and lone litter picking - according 

to restrictions in place . Health walks and Health 

Rides took place (covid secure) with restricted 

number

• Covid safe litter pick and talk with 30 children 

from Flakefleet school

We have been shortlisted for the Keep Britain Tidy 

‘Community Engagement Award’ for the alley 

project on Rhyl Street in Fleetwood, the video has 

been launched on social media, encouraging 

residents to ‘Love Where You Live’ and nominate 

their own alleys for us to support them with their 

transformation. This video has also been launched 

onto YouTube  • Natural flood management 

volunteer days undertaken in partnership with 

River Wyre Trust and Wyre volunteers to help with 

the sustainable management of the Wyre 

catchment .

PPL5 - Status Green Green Green

Ruth Hunter

Ruth Hunter

Carol Southern

BusinessPlan2020_Place, Place Projects 18/02/2021, 18:57

P
age 62



Ensure the Wyre 

community lottery is 

well utilised to support 

good causes

The lottery continues to grow the number of good causes that have signed up 

and the number of people who are buying tickets and winning prizes. We will 

be focusing on promoting the lottery to new good causes to ensure we hit our 

target of 40 signed up. We are please with the progress that this is making so 

far.

The lottery now has 39 good causes signed up for 

the lottery. Each weekly draw attracts over 1.3K 

tickets sold and there are approx 20-30 winners 

each week in Wyre. We are featuring the different 

good causes on our social media accounts to 

increase support and are communicating regularly 

with the good causes to ensure they make the 

most of the lottery

The lottery still has 39 good causes signed up for 

the lottery. Each weekly draw attracts over 1.3K 

tickets sold and there are approx 20-30 winners 

each week in Wyre. We are planning a 

promotional campaign to recruit more good causes 

and are contacting all those good causes that have 

started the signing up process but not completed.

PPL6 - Status Green Green Green

Develop and deliver 

action plans to reduce 

the effect of climate 

change on our borough

Various annual and perennial wildflower areas were prepared and sown in 

April and May including at Memorial Park Fleetwood, Dock St Roundabout 

Fleetwood, Vicarage Park Poulton, Tithebarn Park Poulton, Civic Centre 

Grounds Poulton and Jubilee Gardens Cleveleys

Climate change action plans for council operations 

and the wider borough were agreed by members 

of the Climate Change Policy Group. This is being 

compiled into a report for formal cabinet approval 

at the November meeting. A baseline carbon 

footprint for the council was produced for 2018/19 

by One Carbon World. The footprint for 2019/20 is 

currently being calculated in house. An annual 

reduction target is to be agreed based on these 

figures.

Quarter 3 Target of 1843 trees planted has not 

been met due to delays in receiving trees from 

Woodland Trust - expected to be planted in Qtr 4 

with additional trees subject to Covid restrictions.

- A summarised action plan has been produced and 

submitted for cabinet consideration in January.

- The Fylde Coast Climate Survey went live in 

December for residents to express their views and 

suggestions for tackling climate change.

- Four new electric vans have been purchased for 

the council fleet and grant funding is being 

pursued for electric vehicle charging points across 

the borough, which some Parish Councils are also 

actively pursuing.

- Joint working groups with climate change officers 

and planning officers have been set up across 

Lancashire to share best practice and collective 

climate change action.

PPL7 - Status Green Green Green

Ruth Hunter

Carol Southern

Mark Billington / 

Sammy Gray

BusinessPlan2020_Place, Place Projects 18/02/2021, 18:57

P
age 63



Support our residents to 

reduce waste and 

increase reuse and 

recycling

The Box to Bin scheme went live early April, despite the challenges of Covid-

19.  During the lockdown all waste streams have seen higher waste arisings, 

but the use of the new red bin appears to be high.  The programmed support 

of temporary  officers on the ground engaging with householders and tackling 

problems  was suspended, alternative digital ways of engaging with residents 

to reduce and recycle more waste is being explored.

Some kerbside services and the HWRC's were temporarily suspended 

reducing the ability to divert waste some waste streams

Supported national recycling week and drip feed of 

communication messages to remind householders 

how to use bins.

Tender exercise completed to work with a third 

party specialist on a digital campaign to support 

behaviour change - funding supported by LCC.

Creation of video for use at the virtual Fylde Coast 

Food & Drink festival and social media on recycling 

and what happens to your waste.

The digital  campaign with Happy started and 

launched with messages to help reduce waste and 

contamination of the recycling bins in  the run up 

to Christmas.

The service leaflet addressing recycling, reuse and 

climate change was delivered in late November to 

all households

• In order to highlight food waste and in particular 

at Halloween, we launched some pumpkin cookery 

videos & promoted LFHW messages

• To combat not only contamination in the 

paper/card waste stream, but to encourage ‘Re-

use’ we launched a sustainable gift-wrapping video 

onto social media, giving ideas and tips on how to 

not only be friendlier to the environment but on 

their pocket!

Face to Face events / activities limited by Covid 

restrictions

Ruth Hunter

BusinessPlan2020_Place, Place Projects 18/02/2021, 18:57

P
age 64



Place Measures
Reportee Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative Target Actual Cumulative

Number of people attending outdoor activities Alison Boden 0 0 0 70 100 100 50 122 222 0

Satisfaction with parks and open spaces Ruth Hunter

Satisfaction with keeping public land free from litter Ruth Hunter

Reduction in fly tipping reported
Ruth Hunter, Tracy 

Waistle
500 507 507 500

Delay in figures 

approved by 

DEFRA
500

delay in reporting 

process

Money raised for good causes by the Wyre community 

lottery
Carol Southern £2,500 £2,186 £2,186 £5,000 £2,404 £4,590 £7,500 £2,496 7,086 £10,000

Reduction in council carbon emissions
Mark Billington, 

Sammy Gray
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Number of public electric charging points Carl Green 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 6

Number of trees planted
Mark Billington, 

Ryan Arrell
0 0 0 0 0 0 1843 0 0 2583

% of household waste recycled Ruth Hunter
45%

44.8% (lower as 

green waste 

suspended) n/a 45%

49.3% (not yet 

approved by 

DEFRA) n/a 40%

Delay in 

reporting process
n/a

Achieving/Exceeding target

Within 10% of achieving target

Below target (more than 10%)

MPL5 –  linked to the Life in Wyre  bi-annual survey, therefore figures only available every 2 years

MPL4 –  linked to the Life in Wyre  bi-annual survey, therefore figures only available every 2 years

Q1, April - June 2020 Q2, July - September 2020 Q3, October - Dec 2020 Q4, January - March 2021

Targets Set Locally

BusinessPlan2020_Place, Place Measures 18/02/2021, 19:00

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date 

Clare James, Corporate 
Director Resources 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

01 March 2021 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2020/21 – update report 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
 1.1 

 
 

To update the Overview and Scrutiny Committee about the Overview and 
Scrutiny Work programme 2020/21. 

2. Recommendations 
 

 2.1 
 

That the committee considers their desired focus/areas of work for the 
remainder of the 2020/21 period.  
 

 2.2. That the report be noted. 
 

3. Current, Paused, and Requested Work 
 

 3.1 Review of the Citizens Advice Bureau 
 
Following a suggestion at the O&S Committee meeting held on 27 
January 2020, a discussion at the meeting held on 18 January 2021 and 
with the committee’s agreement at the last meeting, a task group was set 
up to review the service provision provided by Citizens Advice service.  
 
The Task Group met with Diane Gradwell (Chief Executive at Citizens 
Advice Lancashire) and Guy Simpson (Advice Services Manager at 
Citizens Advice Lancashire West) on Thursday 4 February at 6pm.  
 
The next meeting is scheduled to be Thursday 25 February at 6pm.  
 
 

 3.2  
 

Review of Wyre’s Call-in procedures 
  
It was agreed at the committee’s last meeting that a small review group 
would be set up to look into how a Call-in meeting should be structured 
and chaired, taking into account lessons learned from previous Call-in 
meetings, whether different procedures are needed for Portfolio Holder 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



decisions and Cabinet decisions, and interviewing Cabinet members, 
other councillors etc. 
 
However, at the request of the Monitoring Officer, this work has been 
paused.  
 

 3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4  
 
 
 
 
 

District Environmental Enforcement Task Group 
 
The pilot enforcement scheme was extended, which would have given 
the task group more time to complete its detailed work. The period of 
consultation with residents had also been extended, for a further month, 
and the task group planned to meet on 31 March 2020 to consider the 
responses. 
 
Unfortunately, owing to the pandemic, the Task Group’s work was halted 
and is currently incomplete. A request has been sent for more information 
as to when the Portfolio Holder decision is planned. A report is scheduled 
for approval to extend the current contract later this month. 
 
 
YMCA Fylde Coast 
 
It was agreed at the committee’s last meeting that a scoping document 
be brought to this meeting regarding the YMCA Fylde Coast Partnership 
with Wyre Council.  
 
After discussions with the Chair and Senior officers, the relationship 
between Wyre Council and YMCA Fylde Coast has been clarified and 
members of the committee should note that there is no service level 
agreement/partnership and instead Wyre Council has a contractual 
agreement with YMCA Fylde Coast.  
 
The contract is due to expire by 2025/26 and it has been agreed that the 
committee may wish to review the contract closer to the current expiry 
date as to create the most impactful work.  
 
However, the committee may wish to refocus the aims of a YMCA Fylde 
Coast Task Group and look into the recommendations made by the 
external consultants that were instructed after the Cabinet decision on 
25.11.2020:  
  
“Cabinet also approved the undertaking of a procurement exercise at a 
cost of £30,000 to bring in external support to help with the development 
of a longer-term strategy for sustainable leisure provision in Wyre and 
delegated authority for this commission to the Corporate Director 
Communities.” 
 
A brief for this work is underway and a tender will soon be issued to 
commission consultants to carry out this piece of work.    
 

Page 68



4. Other Planned Work 
 

 4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 

Task Group- Supporting Wyre’s town centres 
 
Following a suggestion made at the O&S Committee meeting held on 22 
July 2019, a report and draft-scoping document was submitted to the 
O&S Committee in March 2020. This work has not been revisited since 
but following the creation of a Town Centre Strategy Fund in the 2021/22 
budget there is likely to be an opportunity for involvement in the 
consultation exercise with stakeholders likely to be undertaken later this 
year. 
 
Task Group-  Tourism 
 
Following a suggestion made at the O&S Committee meeting held on 23 
November 2020, a report was submitted to the O&S Committee at the 
last meeting (January 2021). A determination on next steps by the 
committee is needed. 
 
Review of Wyre’s Scrutiny function 
 
Following a suggestion at the O&S Committee meeting held on 23 
November 2020, the Democratic Services Officer has worked with the 
Centre for Governance and Scrutiny to establish a set of interviews and 
workshops to help improve the Scrutiny function at Wyre. 
 
The work is still ongoing; however, the committee may wish to 
commission a task group to review the findings once the work is 
complete.  
 

5. Work Programme 
 

 5.1 
 

The O&S Work Programme for 2020/21 is attached at Appendix 1.  
 
An attempt has been made to prioritise those projects where work has 
already commenced and been presented to O&S and where there are 
strong links to the Business Plan.  
 
Next steps for these areas should now be formulated and the work 
programme tailored accordingly to ensure it remains focused. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 69



Financial and legal implications 

Finance Not applicable 

Legal Not applicable 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 

 
Processing Personal Data 

 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required.  If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection 
and processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a 
new working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed 
and signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Emma Keany 01253 887476 Emma.keany@wyre.gov.uk 17.02.2021 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None None None 

 
 
List of appendices: 
 
1) Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme: 2020/21 

Page 70



Page 1 of 2 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme: 2020/21 
 

Committee Meetings 
 

(All meetings are held on Mondays starting at 6pm) 

 
Date Planned committee agenda items 

27 April 2020 
Cancelled 

1. Annual Schedule of planned investment in assets (see also, minutes of 
meeting of 22 July 2019) – provisional date 

2. O&S Work Programme 2020/21- planning 
3. O&S Work Programme 2019/20 – update. 

 

1 June 2020 
Cancelled 

1. Wyre Theatres update (see O&SC 3 June 2019). 
2. Business Plan – Quarterly Performance Statement 
3. O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update and planning.  

 

20 July 2020 
Cancelled 
Health and 
Wellbeing theme  
 

1. CCG update – Amanda Doyle and Adam Janjua 
2. Lancashire County Council Health Scrutiny Committee- Cllr Robinson 

and possibly Chair of LCC Health Scrutiny Committee  
3. O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update. 

 

7 September 
2020 
Cancelled 

1. Business Plan – Quarterly Performance Statement 
2. O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update. 

 

19 October 2020 
Cancelled 

1. O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update and planning. 
 

23 November 
2020 

1. Covid-19 update 
2. O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update and planning  
3. Fees and charges 
4. Cost profiles – benchmarking results 
5. Annual schedule of planned investment in assets (see also, minutes of 

meeting of 22 July 2019)  
 

Invited attendees: Garry Payne (Chief Executive) and Clare James (Corporate 
Director Resources and Section 151 Officer). 

18 January 2021 1. Business Plan 2021/22  
2. Treasury management 
3. Business Plan – Quarterly Performance Statement 
4. O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update and planning  

 

Invited attendees: Councillor David Henderson (Leader of the Council), Garry 
Payne (Chief Executive), Marianne Hesketh (Corporate Director Communities) 
and Clare James (Corporate Director Resources and Section 151 Officer). 
 

1 March 2021 
Police and 
Community 
Safety theme 

1. Wyre Community Safety Partnership – annual scrutiny review  
2. PREVENT- LGA guidance 
3. Business Plan – Quarterly Performance Statement 
4. O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update  

 

Invited attendees: Inspector Kevin Lister (Wyre Neighbourhood Inspector), 
Police Constable Paul Parkes (Counter Terrorism Policing North West- Cumbria 

Page 71



Page 2 of 2 

Date Planned committee agenda items 

& Lancashire), Neil Greenwood (Head of Environmental Health & Community 
Safety) and Councillor Roger Berry (Neighbourhood Services and Community 
Safety Portfolio Holder). 

26 April 2021 1. O&S Work Programme 2020/21 – update  
2. O&S Work Programme 2021/22- planning 

 

Scrutiny task group reviews: 

 

Date Format Topic 

Started in Feb 
2021 

Task Group Review of the Citizens Advice Bureau (see O&S 27.01.2020- 
minute 6) 

Will start when 
CfGS work ends. 

Various  Review of Scrutiny function (O&S 23.11.2020) 

  YMCA Fylde Coast contract (O&S 16.03.2020) 

  Town centres (O&S 16.03.2020) 

  Wyre’s assistance in the response to Coronavirus [policies 
and procedures] (O&S 16.03.2020) 

  Tourism (O&S 18.01.2021)  

  Council communication (both internal and external) 

  Business Plan- focus and/or projects 

  Councillor support  

  Housing policy  

  Anti-Social behaviour (see O&S 27.01.2020- minute number 
3&6) 

  5G benefits, opportunities, necessary infrastructure and 
impact/ Connectivity in the Borough. 

  Wyre Theatres/ Marine Hall  

  Caravan holiday site occupancy and residential status 

  Lancashire ‘Super Hospital’ (due to the announcement by 
Government 02.10.2020) – the public consultation is expected 
late in 2021. 

  Marsh Mill (extension to the lease that is due to end in mid-
2024)  

  Support a sustainable future for the fish processing industry 
(originally proposed in 2018/2019) 

Start in Jan 2021 
agreed, on hold 
by request of MO 

Review/Working 
Group  

Review of Wyre’s Call-in procedures (18.01.2021) - This work 
is on hold, reason explained in Work Programme report.  

Started 14 
October 2019 

Task Group District Environmental Enforcement Pilot- contract currently 
extended until March 2021 (will relook at in early 2021) 

Continued on 2 
July 2019 

Task Group Poulton to Fleetwood Link (will re-instate once the 
stakeholders and authorities have created a feasibility study) 

 

Updated February 2021 

Page 72


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of minutes
	Minutes

	5 PREVENT- LGA guidance
	_GoBack
	_Hlk33097402

	6 Business Plan – Quarterly Performance Statement
	Performance Reporting Tracker - Q3 2020-21
	BusinessPlan2020_Economyprojects
	BusinessPlan2020_Economymeasures
	BusinessPlan2020_Peopleprojects
	BusinessPlan2020_Peoplemeasures
	BusinessPlan2020_Placeprojects
	BusinessPlan2020_Placemeasures

	7 Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2020/21 – update report
	20210218 WorkProg20-21FebMarch21


